Séminaire Lotharingien de Combinatoire 87B (2023) Special issue for the 9^{th} International Conference Article #1, 49pp.

on Lattice Path Combinatorics and Applications



A WALK IN MY LATTICE PATH GARDEN

HELMUT PRODINGER¹

¹Stellenbosch University and NITHECS (National Institute for Theoretical and Com-PUTATIONAL SCIENCES), SOUTH AFRICA; https://www.math.tugraz.at/~prodinger

Abstract. Various lattice path models are reviewed. The enumeration is done using generating functions. A few bijective considerations are woven in as well. The kernel method is often used. Computer algebra was an essential tool. Some results are new, some have appeared before, but all are interesting.

The lattice path models considered are Hoppy walks and several models involving skew Dyck paths, Schröder paths, hex-trees, decorated ordered trees, multi-edge trees, etc., related to the sequence A002212 in the On-line Encyclopedia of Integer Sequences (created by N. Sloane). Weighted unary-binary trees also occur and we there improve on our old paper on Horton–Strahler numbers [P. Flajolet and H. Prodinger, 1986], by using a different substitution. Some material on Motzkin numbers and paths is also discussed. Some new results on 'Deutsch paths' in a strip are included as well. During the Covid period, I spent much time with this beautiful concept that I dare to call Deutsch paths, since Emeric Deutsch stands at the beginning with a problem that he posted in the American Mathematical Monthly some 20 years ago. Peaks and valleys, studied by Rainer Kemp 40 years ago under the names MAX-turns and MIN-turns, are revisited with a more modern approach, streamlining the analysis, relying on the 'subcritical case' (named so by Philippe Flajolet), the adding a new slice technique and once again the kernel method.

⁽C) C: Released by the author under the CC-BY-SA license (International 4.0). Article published online August 2023.

Keywords: Skew Dyck paths, decorated Dyck paths, generating functions, Motzkin paths, kernel method.

CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Hoppy walks	3
3.	Combinatorics of the OEIS sequence A002212	9
4.	Binary trees and Horton–Strahler numbers	10
5.	Marked ordered trees	16
6.	A bijection between multi-edge trees and 3-coloured Motzkin paths	19
7.	The combinatorics of skew Dyck paths	22
8.	More about Motzkin paths	33
9.	Oscillations in Dyck paths revisited	39
10.	Deutsch-paths in a strip	43
11.	Conclusion	47
References		

1. INTRODUCTION

Around 20 years ago I published a collection of examples about applications of the kernel method in the present journal. The success of this enterprise was unexpected and came as a very pleasant surprise. My current plan is to present again a collection of subjects, loosely related as they all have a lattice path flavour (trees are also allowed in my private book when lattice paths are mentioned). The subjects cover my last 2 or 3 years of research; some results were only posted on arXiv, and some are completely new.

As in the predecessor paper, the kernel method plays a role again, but also analytic techniques like singularity analysis and Mellin transform, as well as bijective results.

Let me emphasize that this is *not* a survey about lattice path enumeration, but a *personal survey*, that is, a very *personal* account of some of *my* interests and recent activities. Of course, I hope that some people will like it, and that some readers will even contact me to further investigate the models presented in this article. It is *not* a long novel, I organized the material rather as a collection of short stories, roughly in the order as I worked on them.

While some methods might be intimidating for the uninitiated, I tried to provide an accessible introduction, also by explaining and simplifying older proofs and applying old and powerful tools to many beautiful and attractive up-to-date problems. Even with traditional bricks, traditional timber, traditional paint one can build a beautiful house, a beautiful home, a beautiful garden!

People who want to properly learn the subject (via different approaches all keeping some intimate links with enumerative combinatorics) can go to Christian Krattenthaler's survey [29], or the older books by Mohanty [31] and Narayana [32] or to many deep and sophisticated articles by Mireille Bousquet-Mélou and Philippe Flajolet. I apologize to all those that I did not mention although I should have. The sections are arranged in roughly the form they were conceived. They have their own little introductions so that a casual reader can look at various parts at his/her leisure. Like a walk in a real garden, you can just cross it or you can explore, in butterfly style, various flowers and other beauties.

I spent probably a year of work on that project, and so it can be hoped that the interested enthusiast can learn something from it. In the first place, I would like to mention the large variety of combinatorial objects, perhaps not known to everybody. Then I mention the "right" substitution of auxiliary variables that one finds in various places of the paper. Without them, certain computations/considerations would be (almost) impossible, in particular since computer algebra systems are not good to deal with roots. There are a few asymptotic calculations woven in, both related to my old friends, the height of trees and the register function (Horton–Strahler numbers). As mentioned, I do not distinguish much (cum grano salis) between lattice paths and trees. There are also a few attractive bijections to be found. I spent myriads of hours with Maple to guess the quantities of interest, especially in the context of Deutsch paths in a strip and bounded marked trees. Many explicit formulæ were found with the kernel method, often in combination with the adding-a-new-slice procedure.

My motivation for this work, apart from numerous improvements related to the existing literature, is a personal credo about how to proceed in various instances of this personal survey. I like generating functions and explicit expressions and I am not so thrilled by bounds and estimates. I know that I open a can of worms with such a statement, but nobody is forced to proceed like me. But those who do can take home something beautiful. It is clear to me that many researchers will not agree with 'beautiful' and replace it with something else. Fortunately, different views are allowed, and I mention freely that Philippe Flajolet's work, especially his younger period, had a lasting effect on the way I consider things. I should also mention Emeric Deutsch here, who is responsible for skew Dyck paths, marked trees, Deutsch paths and more.

So I send this *swan song* into the world. May it encourage younger people to pick up some stones in the garden in the hope that they are actually rough diamonds.

2. Hoppy walks

This section (which is extending our unpublished preprint arXiv:2009.13474) can be seen as a warm-up, introducing all the typical techniques, before a much longer section.

Deng and Mansour [10] introduce a rabbit named Hoppy and let him move according to certain rules. While the story about Hoppy is charming and entertaining, we do not need this here and move straight ahead to the enumeration issues. Eventually, the enumeration problem is one about k-Dyck paths $(k \ge 1)$. The up-steps are (1, k) and the down-steps are (1, -1). The model that has (1, 1) as up-step and the down-step are (1, -k) will also be called k-Dyck paths.

The question is about the length of the last sequence of down-steps (shown in red in Figure 1). Or, phrased differently, how many k-Dyck paths end on level j with an up-step. Note that such paths have length n = m + km - j. The recent paper [49] consider these paths, although without the restriction that the last step must be an up-step.



FIGURE 1. The rabbit Hoppy thinking in the lattice path garden... on the number of final down-steps in paths with steps (1, -1) and (1, k). Source: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/File:Oryctolagus_cuniculus_Tasmania_2.jpg

The original description of Deng and Mansour is a reflection of Figure 1, with up-steps of size 1 and down-steps of size -k, but we prefer it as given here, since we are going to use the adding-a-new-slice method; see [18, 38]. A slice is here a run of down-steps, followed by an up-step. So, for each path, one begin with an up-step, and then m - 1 new slices are added. We keep track of the level after each slice, using a variable u. The variable z is used to count the number of up-steps.

Deng and Mansour work out a formula which comprises O(m) terms. For our walks, we obtain a more compact sum of only O(j) terms (recall that j is the level of the last point).

We start with the following substitution which encodes that one adds a new slice

$$u^j \longrightarrow z \sum_{0 \le h \le j} u^{h+k} = \frac{zu^k}{1-u} (1-u^{j+1}).$$

Now let $F_m(z, u)$ be the generating function of paths having m runs of down-steps. The substitution leads to

$$F_{m+1}(z,u) = \frac{zu^k}{1-u}F_m(z,1) - \frac{zu^{k+1}}{1-u}F_m(z,u), \quad F_0(z,u) = zu^k.$$

Let $F = \sum_{m \ge 0} F_m$, so that we do not care about the number *m* anymore; then

$$F(z,u) = zu^{k} + \frac{zu^{k}}{1-u}F(z,1) - \frac{zu^{k+1}}{1-u}F(z,u),$$

or, more conveniently,

$$F(z, u)(1 - u + zu^{k+1}) = zu^{k}(1 - u + F(z, 1))$$

The equation $1 - u + zu^{k+1} = 0$ (the so-called kernel equation) is famous when enumerating (k + 1)-ary trees (or k-Dyck paths). Its relevant combinatorial solution (also the only one being analytic at the origin) is

$$\overline{u} = \sum_{\ell \ge 0} \frac{1}{1 + \ell(k+1)} \binom{1 + \ell(k+1)}{\ell} z^{\ell}.$$

Now, since $u := \overline{u}$ cancels the kernel and the left-hand side, $(u - \overline{u})$ must be a factor of the right-hand side (which is a polynomial in u); this gives

$$zu^k(1 - u + F(z, 1)) = -zu^k(u - \overline{u}).$$

Cancelling the kernel equation is thus a method which brings additional equations, allowing us to identify F(z, 1), and then F(z, u) which is given by

$$F(z,u) = zu^k \frac{\overline{u} - u}{1 - u + zu^{k+1}}$$

The first factor has even a combinatorial interpretation, as a description of the first step of the path. It is also clear from this that the level reached is at least k after each slice. We do not care about the factor zu^k anymore, as it produces only a simple shift. The main interest is now how to get to the coefficients of

$$\frac{\overline{u} - u}{1 - u + zu^{k+1}}$$

in an efficient way. First we deal with the denominators $(j \ge k+1)$

$$S_j := [u^j] \frac{1}{1 - u + zu^{k+1}} = \sum_{0 \le m \le j/k} (-1)^m \binom{j - km}{m} z^m.$$

One way to see this formula is to prove by induction that the sums S_j satisfy the recursion $S_j - S_{j-1} + zS_{j-k-1} = 0$ and initial conditions $S_0 = \cdots = S_k = 1$. In [49] such expressions also appear as determinants. Summarizing,

$$\frac{1}{1 - u + zu^{k+1}} = \sum_{m \ge 0} (-1)^m z^m \sum_{j \ge km} \binom{j - km}{m} u^j.$$

Now we read off coefficients:

$$[u^{j}]\frac{\overline{u}}{1-u+zu^{k+1}} = \sum_{0 \le m \le j/k} (-1)^{m} \binom{j-km}{m} z^{m} \sum_{\ell \ge 0} \frac{1}{1+\ell(k+1)} \binom{1+\ell(k+1)}{\ell} z^{\ell}$$

and further

$$[z^{n}][u^{j}]\frac{\overline{u}}{1-u+zu^{k+1}} = \sum_{0 \le m \le j/k} \frac{(-1)^{m}}{1+(n-m)(k+1)} \binom{j-km}{m} \binom{1+(n-m)(k+1)}{n-m}.$$

The final answer to the Deng–Mansour enumeration (without the shift) is

$$\left(\sum_{0 \le m \le j/k} \frac{(-1)^m}{1 + (n-m)(k+1)} \binom{j-km}{m} \binom{1 + (n-m)(k+1)}{n-m}\right) - (-1)^n \binom{j-1-kn}{n}.$$
(2.1)

If one wants to take care of the factor zu^k as well, one needs to do the replacements $n \to n+1$ and $j \to j+k$ in the formula just derived. That enumerates then the k-Dyck paths ending at level j after n up-steps, where the last step is an up-step.

The main contribution of this section is this equation (2.1); let us now discuss three variations about these walks.

An application. In [1] the authors considered the total number of down-steps of the last down-run in all k-Dyck paths. For k = 2, 3, 4, this corresponds to the sequences A334680, A334682, A334719 in the OEIS¹, respectively. So, if the path ends on level j, the contribution to the total is j.

All we have to do here is to differentiate

$$F(z,u) = zu^k \frac{\overline{u} - u}{1 - u + zu^{k+1}}$$

with respect to u, and then replace u by 1. The result is

$$\frac{\overline{u}}{z} - \overline{u} - \frac{1}{z},$$

and the coefficient of z^m therein is

$$\frac{1}{1+(m+1)(k+1)}\binom{1+(m+1)(k+1)}{m+1} - \frac{1}{1+m(k+1)}\binom{1+m(k+1)}{m}.$$

The bivariate generating function does this enumeration cleanly and quickly.

Hoppy's early adventures. Now we investigate what Hoppy does after his first up-step; he might follow with $0, 1, \ldots, k$ down-steps. Eventually, we want to sum all these steps (red in the picture).



A new slice is now an up-step, followed by a sequence of down-steps. The substitution of interest is:

$$u^i \to z \sum_{0 \le h \le i+k} u^h = \frac{z}{1-u} - \frac{zu^{i+k+1}}{1-u}$$

Furthermore

$$F_{h+1}(z,u) = \frac{z}{1-u}F_h(z,1) - \frac{zu^{k+1}}{1-u}F_h(z,u),$$

and $F_0 = u^h$, the starting level. We have

$$H(z,u) = \sum_{h \ge 0} F_h(z,u) = u^h + \frac{z}{1-u} H(z,1) - \frac{zu^{k+1}}{1-u} H(z,u)$$

or

$$H(z, u)(1 - u + zu^{k+1}) = u^{h}(1 - u) + zH(z, 1).$$

¹The On-line Encyclopedia of Integer Sequences (OEIS) is a database available at https://oeis.org/.

Plugging in \overline{u} into the right-hand side gives 0, thus one has

$$zH(z,1) = -\overline{u}^h(1-\overline{u}),$$

which itself implies

$$H(z, u) = \frac{u^{h}(1 - u) - \overline{u}^{h}(1 - \overline{u})}{1 - u + zu^{k+1}}$$

But we only need H(z, 0), since we return to the x-axis at the end:

$$H(z,0) = \llbracket h = 0 \rrbracket + \overline{u}^{h+1} - \overline{u}^h.$$

(The Iverson notation $[\![P]\!]$ which is 1 when P is true and 0 otherwise is the notation of choice for combinatorialists, [21].) The total contribution of red steps is then

$$k + \sum_{h=0}^{k} (k-h)(\overline{u}^{h+1} - \overline{u}^h) = \sum_{h=1}^{k} \overline{u}^h;$$

the coefficient of z^m in this is the total contribution. Since $\overline{u} = 1 + z\overline{u}^{k+1}$, there is the further simplification

$$-1 + \frac{1}{z} + \frac{1}{1 - \overline{u}} = \sum_{m \ge 1} \frac{k}{m + 1} \binom{(k+1)m}{m} z^m.$$

Indeed, for $m \ge 1$, we have

$$\begin{split} [z^m] \left(-1 + \frac{1}{z} + \frac{1}{1 - \overline{u}} \right) &= -[z^m] \frac{1}{z\overline{u}^{k+1}} \\ &= -[z^{m+1}] \sum_{\ell \ge 0} \frac{-(k+1)}{(k+1)\ell - (k+1)} \binom{(k+1)\ell - (k+1)}{\ell} z^\ell \\ &= [z^{m+1}] \sum_{\ell \ge 0} \frac{(k+1)}{(k+1)(\ell - 1)} \binom{(k+1)(\ell - 1)}{\ell} z^\ell \\ &= \frac{(k+1)}{(k+1)m} \binom{(k+1)m}{m+1} = \frac{k}{m+1} \binom{(k+1)m}{m}. \end{split}$$

We did not expect such a simple answer $\frac{k}{m+1}\binom{(k+1)m}{m}$ to this question about Hoppy's early adventures! This analysis of Hoppy's early adventures covers sequences A007226, A007228, A124724 of [52], with references to [1].

Hoppy walks into negative territory. Hoppy is now adventurous and allows himself to go to level -1 as well, but not deeper. The setup with generating functions is the same, but the *u*-variable counts the level relative to the -1 level, so this has to be corrected later.

Hoppy, after some initial frustration discovers that he can now start with an up-step or a down-step. First, let us start Hoppy with an up-step:

$$F(z,u) = zu^{k+1} + \frac{zu^k}{1-u}F(z,1) - \frac{zu^{k+1}}{1-u}F(z,u),$$

which we conveniently rewrite as

$$F(z, u)(1 - u + zu^{k+1}) = zu^{k+1}(1 - u) + zu^k F(z, 1).$$

Since the left-hand side cancels for $u = \overline{u}$, we get that $u = \overline{u}$ is also cancelling the right-hand side (which is a polynomial in u), and this implies that

$$\overline{u}(1-\overline{u}) + F(z,1) = 0.$$

This finally gives

$$F(z,u) = \frac{zu^k}{1 - u + zu^{k+1}} \Big(u(1-u) - \overline{u}(1-\overline{u}) \Big).$$

But Hoppy can also start with a downstep. So we have to add the result of the previous computation, and get finally

$$G(z,u) = \frac{zu^k}{1 - u + zu^{k+1}} \left(u(1 - u) - \overline{u}(1 - \overline{u}) \right) + \frac{zu^k}{1 - u + zu^{k+1}} \left(\overline{u} - u \right)$$

or better

$$G(z, u) = \frac{zu^{k}}{1 - u + zu^{k+1}} (\overline{u}^{2} - u^{2}).$$

Now we need

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial u}G(z,1) - G(z,1).$$

This subtraction is necessary, since the contribution of u^j is not j as before but only j-1. The result is

$$\frac{\overline{u}^2}{z} - 2\overline{u}^2 - \frac{1}{z}.$$

Hoppy knows that \overline{u}^d has beautiful coefficients:

$$\overline{u}^d = \sum_{\ell \ge 0} \binom{d-1+(k+1)\ell}{\ell} \frac{d}{k\ell+d}$$

and he inserts k = 2 which gives A030983:

$$3z + 16z^2 + 83z^3 + 442z^4 + 2420z^5 + \cdots$$

k = 3 which gives A334608:

$$5z + 34z^2 + 236z^3 + 1714z^4 + 12922z^5 + \cdots,$$

k = 4 which gives A334610:

$$7z + 58z^2 + 505z^3 + 4650z^4 + 44677z^5 + \cdots$$

In general, we have

$$\frac{\overline{u}^2}{z} - 2\overline{u}^2 - \frac{1}{z} = \sum_{\ell \ge 0} \left[\binom{1 + (k+1)(\ell+1)}{\ell+1} \frac{2}{k(\ell+1)+2} - 2\binom{1 + (k+1)\ell}{\ell} \frac{2}{k\ell+2} \right] z^\ell.$$

Happy Hoppy decides to stop this line of computations here.

3. Combinatorics of the OEIS sequence a002212

The following (sub)sections give some (mostly new) results about the sequence

 $1, 1, 3, 10, 36, 137, 543, 2219, 9285, 39587, 171369, 751236, 3328218, 14878455, \ldots$

which is A002212 in the OEIS. In the following four sections we consider different combinatorial structures enumerated by this sequence.

- Hex-trees are identified as weighted unary-binary trees, with weight one (see the article by Hana Kim and Richard Stanley [26]). Apart from left and right branches, as in binary trees, there are also unary branches, and they can come in different colours, here in just one colour. Unary-binary trees played a role in the present authors scientific development, as documented in [17], a paper written with the late and great Philippe Flajolet, about the register function (Horton–Strahler numbers) of unary-binary trees. In Section 4, we offer an improvement, using a "better" substitution than in [17]. The results can now be made fully explicit. As a by-product, this provides a definition and analysis of the Horton–Strahler numbers of hex-trees.
- Then we move to skew Dyck paths, as considered by Emeric Deutsch, Emanuele Munarini, and Simone Rinaldi in [12]. They are like Dyck paths, but allow for an extra step (-1, -1), provided that the path does not intersect itself. An equivalent model, defined and described using a bijection, is from [12]: marked ordered trees; see Section 5. They are like ordered trees, with an additional feature, namely each rightmost edge (except for one that leads to a leaf) can be coloured with two colours. Since we find this class of trees to be interesting, we analyze two parameters of them: number of leaves and height. While the number of leaves for ordered trees is about n/2, it is only n/10 in the new model. For the height, the leading term $\sqrt{\pi n}$ drops to $\frac{2}{\sqrt{5}}\sqrt{\pi n}$. Of course, many more parameters of this new class of trees could be investigated, which we encourage to do.
- The next two classes of structures are multi-edge trees; see Section 6. Our interest in them was already triggered in an earlier publication, together with Clemens Heuberger and Stephan Wagner [24]. They may be seen as ordered trees, but with weighted edges. The weights are integers ≥ 1 , and a weight *a* may be interpreted as *a* parallel edges. The other class are 3-Motzkin paths. They are like Motzkin paths (Dyck paths plus horizontal steps); however, the horizontal steps come in three different colours. A bijection is described. Since 3-Motzkin paths and multi-edge trees are very much alike (using a variation of the classical rotation correspondence), all the structures that are discussed in this paper can be linked via bijections. Since these trees are not so common in the combinatorics community, details and examples are presented for the readers' benefit.
- Skew Dyck paths are finally discussed in more detail in Section 7.

4. BINARY TREES AND HORTON-STRAHLER NUMBERS

This section is classical and serves as the basis of some new developments about weighted unary-binary trees. A full account can be found in [36].

Binary trees may be expressed by the following symbolic equation, which says that they include the empty tree and trees recursively built from a root followed by two subtrees, which are binary trees:



Binary trees are counted by Catalan numbers and there is an important parameter reg, which in Computer Science is called the register function. It associates to each binary tree (which is used to code an arithmetic expression, with data in the leaves and operators in the internal nodes) the minimal number of extra registers that is needed to evaluate the tree. The optimal strategy is to evaluate difficult subtrees first, and use one register to keep its value, which does not hurt, if the other subtree requires less registers. If both subtrees are equally difficult, then one more register is used, compared to the requirements of the subtrees. This natural parameter is among combinatorialists known as the Horton–Strahler numbers, and we will adopt this name throughout this paper.

There is a recursive description of this function: $\operatorname{reg}(\Box) = 0$, and if tree t has subtrees t_1 and t_2 , then

$$\operatorname{reg}(t) = \begin{cases} \max\{\operatorname{reg}(t_1), \operatorname{reg}(t_2)\} & \text{if } \operatorname{reg}(t_1) \neq \operatorname{reg}(t_2), \\ 1 + \operatorname{reg}(t_1) & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

The recursive description attaches numbers to the nodes, starting with 0's at the leaves and then going up; the number appearing at the root is the Horton–Strahler number of the tree.



Let \mathscr{R}_p denote the family of trees with Horton–Strahler number equal to p, then one gets immediately from the recursive definition:

$$\mathscr{R}_{p} = \bigwedge_{\mathscr{R}_{p-1}} \mathscr{R}_{p-1} + \bigwedge_{\mathscr{R}_{p}} \bigcup_{j < p} \mathscr{R}_{j} + \bigwedge_{j < p} \mathscr{R}_{j} \mathscr{R}_{j}$$

In terms of generating functions, these equations are translated into

$$R_p(z) = zR_{p-1}^2(z) + 2zR_p(z)\sum_{j < p} R_j(z);$$

the variable z is used to mark the size (i.e., the number of internal nodes) of the binary tree. A historic account of these concepts, from the angle of Philippe Flajolet, who was one of the pioneers is [50]; compare also [48].

Amazingly, the recursion for the generating functions $R_p(z)$ can be solved explicitly! The substitution

$$z = \frac{u}{(1+u)^2}$$

that de Bruijn, Knuth, and Rice [9] also used, produces the nice expression

$$R_p(z) = \frac{1 - u^2}{u} \frac{u^{2^p}}{1 - u^{2^{p+1}}}.$$

Of course, once this is known, it can be proved by induction, using the recursive formula. For the readers benefit, this will be sketched now. We start with the auxiliary formula

$$\sum_{0 \le j < p} \frac{u^{2^j}}{1 - u^{2^{j+1}}} = \frac{u}{1 - u} - \frac{u^{2^p}}{1 - u^{2^p}},$$

which we will prove now by induction: For p = 0, the formula $0 = \frac{u}{1-u} - \frac{u}{1-u}$ is correct, and then

$$\sum_{0 \le j < p+1} \frac{u^{2^{j}}}{1 - u^{2^{j+1}}} = \frac{u}{1 - u} - \frac{u^{2^{p}}}{1 - u^{2^{p}}} + \frac{u^{2^{p}}}{1 - u^{2^{p+1}}}$$
$$= \frac{u}{1 - u} - \frac{u^{2^{p}}(1 + u^{2^{p}})}{1 - u^{2^{p+1}}} + \frac{u^{2^{p}}}{1 - u^{2^{p+1}}} = \frac{u}{1 - u} - \frac{u^{2^{p+1}}}{1 - u^{2^{p+1}}}$$

Now the formula for $R_p(z)$ can also be proved by induction. First, $R_0(z) = \frac{1-u^2}{u} \frac{u}{1-u^2} = 1$, as it should, and

$$zR_{p-1}^{2}(z) + 2zR_{p}(z)\sum_{j < p} R_{j}(z)$$

$$= \frac{u}{(1+u)^{2}} \frac{(1-u^{2})^{2}}{u^{2}} \frac{u^{2^{p}}}{(1-u^{2^{p}})^{2}} + \frac{2u}{(1+u)^{2}}R_{p}(z)\sum_{j < p} \frac{1-u^{2}}{u} \frac{u^{2^{j}}}{1-u^{2^{j+1}}}$$

$$= \frac{u^{2^{p}-1}(1-u)^{2}}{(1-u^{2^{p}})^{2}} + \frac{2(1-u)}{(1+u)}R_{p}(z)\sum_{j < p} \frac{u^{2^{j}}}{1-u^{2^{j+1}}}.$$

Solving

$$R_p(z) = \frac{u^{2^p - 1}(1 - u)^2}{(1 - u^{2^p})^2} + \frac{2(1 - u)}{(1 + u)}R_p(z) \left[\frac{u}{1 - u} - \frac{u^{2^p}}{1 - u^{2^p}}\right]$$

leads to

$$R_p(z)\frac{1-u}{1+u}\left[1+2\frac{u^{2^p}}{1-u^{2^p}}\right] = \frac{u^{2^p-1}(1-u)^2}{(1-u^{2^p})^2},$$

or, simplified

$$R_p(z) = \frac{u^{2^p - 1}(1 - u^2)}{(1 - u^{2^p})(1 + u^{2^p})} = \frac{1 - u^2}{u} \frac{u^{2^p}}{1 - u^{2^{p+1}}},$$

which is the formula that we needed to prove. Alternatively, this formula can also be proved by converting the sum into a telescoping sum, by extending the numerator and denominator by $(1 - u^{2^{j}})$, and using a partial fraction decomposition.

Weighted unary-binary trees and Horton–Strahler numbers. The family of unarybinary trees \mathcal{M} might be defined by the symbolic equation

$$\mathcal{M} = \Box + \bigvee_{\mathcal{M} \setminus \{\Box\}} + \bigvee_{\mathcal{M} \in \mathcal{M}}$$

The equation for the generating function is

$$M(z) = 1 + z(M(z) - 1) + zM(z)^2$$

with the solution

$$M(z) = \frac{1 - z - \sqrt{1 - 6z + 5z^2}}{2z} = 1 + z + 3z^2 + 10z^3 + 36z^4 + \dots;$$

the coefficients form again sequence A002212 in [52] and enumerate Schröder paths, among many other things. We will come to equivalent structures a bit later.

In the instance of unary-binary trees, we can also work with a substitution. Set $z = \frac{u}{1+3u+u^2}$, then M(z) = 1 + u. Unary-binary trees and the register function were investigated in [17], but the present favourable substitution was not used. Therefore, in this previous paper, asymptotic results were available but no explicit formulæ.

This works also with a weighted version, where we allow unary edges with a different colours. Then

$$\mathcal{N} = \Box + a \cdot \big| + \mathcal{N} \setminus \{\Box\} + \mathcal{N} \mathcal{N}$$

and with the substitution $z = \frac{u}{1+(a+2)u+u^2}$, the generating function is beautifully expressed as N(z) = 1 + u. For a = 0, this covers also binary trees.

We will consider the Horton–Strahler numbers of unary-binary trees in the sequel. The definition is naturally extended by

$$\operatorname{reg}\left(\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{0} \\ t \end{array}\right) = \operatorname{reg}(\mathbf{t}).$$

Now we can move again to $R_p(z)$, the generating function of (generalized) unary-binary trees with Horton–Strahler number p. The recursion (for $p \ge 1$) is

$$\mathscr{R}_{p} = \bigwedge_{\mathscr{R}_{p-1}} \mathscr{R}_{p-1} + \bigwedge_{\mathscr{R}_{p}} \bigvee_{j < p} \mathscr{R}_{j} + \bigwedge_{j < p} \mathscr{R}_{j} \mathscr{R}_{p} + a \cdot |_{\mathscr{R}_{p}}$$

In terms of generating functions, these equations read as

$$R_p(z) = zR_{p-1}^2(z) + 2zR_p(z)\sum_{j< p} R_j(z) + azR_p(z), \quad p \ge 1; \quad R_0(z) = 1.$$

Amazingly, with the substitution $z = \frac{u}{1+(a+2)u+u^2}$, formally we get the *same* solution as in the binary case:

$$R_p(z) = \frac{1 - u^2}{u} \frac{u^{2^p}}{1 - u^{2^{p+1}}}$$

The proof by induction is as before. One sees another advantage of the substitution. On a formal level, many manipulations do not need to be repeated. Only when one switches back to the z-world, things become different.

Hex-trees. Hex-trees either have two non-empty successors, or one of 3 types of unary successors (called left, middle, right). The author has seen this family first in [26], but one can find older literature following the references and the usual search engines [2,23]. We start with a symbolic equation, as usual.

$$\mathcal{H} = \Box + \bigcirc + \underbrace{\mathcal{H}}_{\mathbb{H}} + \underbrace{\mathcal{H}$$

The generating function satisfies (by translation of the symbolic equation)

$$H(z) = 1 + z(H(z) - 1)^{2} + z + 3z(H(z) - 1) = \frac{1 - z - \sqrt{(1 - z)(1 - 5z)}}{2z}$$

= 1 + z + 3z^{2} + 10z^{3} + 36z^{4} + 137z^{5} + 543z^{6} + 2219z^{7} + 9285z^{8} + 39587z^{9} + \cdots

The same generating function also appears in [24], and it is sequence A002212 in the OEIS [52]. One can rewrite the symbolic equation as

$$\mathcal{H} = \Box + \underbrace{\mathcal{H}}_{\mathcal{H}} + \underbrace{\mathcal{H}}_{\mathcal$$

and sees in this way that the hex-trees are just unary-binary trees (with parameter a = 1).

Continuing with enumerations. First, we will enumerate the number of (generalized) unary-binary trees with n (internal) nodes. For that we need the notion of generalized trinomial coefficients, viz.

$$\binom{n;1,a,1}{k} := [z^k](1+az+z^2)^n.$$

Of course, for a = 2, this simplifies to a binomial coefficient $\binom{2n}{k}$. We will use contour integration to pull out coefficients, and the contour of integer, in whatever variable, is a small circle (or equivalent) around the origin. The desired number is (recall that $z = \frac{u}{1+(a+2)u+u^2}$)

$$\begin{split} [z^n](1+u) &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint \frac{dz}{z^{n+1}} (1+u) \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint \frac{du(1-u^2)(1+(a+2)u+u^2)^{n+1}}{(1+(a+2)u+u^2)^2 u^{n+1}} (1+u) \\ &= [u^{n+1}](1-u)(1+u)^2 (1+(a+2)u+u^2)^{n-1} \\ &= \binom{n-1;1,a+2,1}{n+1} + \binom{n-1;1,a+2,1}{n} \\ &- \binom{n-1;1,a+2,1}{n-1} - \binom{n-1;1,a+2,1}{n-2}. \end{split}$$

Then we introduce $S_p(z) = R_p(z) + R_{p+1}(z) + R_{p+2}(z) + \cdots$, the generating function of trees with Horton–Strahler number $\geq p$. Using the summation formula proved earlier, we get

$$S_p(z) = \frac{1 - u^2}{u} \frac{u^{2^p}}{1 - u^{2^p}} = \frac{1 - u^2}{u} \sum_{k \ge 1} u^{k 2^p}.$$

Asymptotics. We start by deriving asymptotics for the number of (generalized) unarybinary trees with n (internal) nodes. This is a standard application of singularity analysis of generating functions, as described in [16] and [20].

We start from the generating function

$$N(z) = \frac{1 - az - \sqrt{1 - 2(a+2)z + a(a+4)z^2}}{2z}$$

and determine the singularity closest to the origin, which is the value making the square root disappear: $z = \frac{1}{a+4}$. After that, the local expansion of N(z) around this singularity is determined:

$$N(z) \sim 2 - \sqrt{a+4}\sqrt{1 - (a+4)z}.$$

The translation lemmas given in [16] and [20] provide the asymptotics:

$$[z^{n}]N(z) \sim [z^{n}]\left(2 - \sqrt{a+4}\sqrt{1 - (a+4)z}\right)$$
$$= -\sqrt{a+4} (a+4)^{n} \frac{n^{-3/2}}{\Gamma(-\frac{1}{2})} = (a+4)^{n+1/2} \frac{1}{2\sqrt{\pi}n^{3/2}}$$

Just note that a = 0 is the well-known formula for binary trees with n nodes.

Now we move to the generating function for the average number of registers. Apart from normalization it is

$$\sum_{p\geq 1} pR_p(z) = \sum_{p\geq 1} S_p(z) = \frac{1-u^2}{u} \sum_{p\geq 1} \sum_{k\geq 1} u^{k2^p} = \frac{1-u^2}{u} \sum_{n\geq 1} v_2(n)u^n,$$

where $v_2(n)$ is the highest exponent k such 2^k divides n.

This has to be studied around u = 1, which, upon setting $u = e^{-t}$, means around t = 0. Eventually, and that is the only thing that is different here, this is to be retranslated into a singular expansion of z around its singularity, which depends on the parameter a.

For the reader's convenience, we also repeat the steps that were known before. The first factor is elementary:

$$\frac{1-u^2}{u} \sim 2t + \frac{1}{3}t^3 + \cdots$$

For

$$\sum_{p\geq 1}\sum_{k\geq 1}e^{-k2^{p}t}$$

one applies the Mellin transform, with the result

$$\frac{\Gamma(s)\zeta(s)}{2^s-1}.$$

Applying the inversion formula, one finds

$$\sum_{p \ge 1} \sum_{k \ge 1} e^{-k2^{p}t} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{2-i\infty}^{2+i\infty} t^{-s} \frac{\Gamma(s)\zeta(s)}{2^{s}-1} ds.$$

Shifting the line of integration to the left, the residues at the poles s = 1, s = 0, $s = \chi_k = \frac{2k\pi i}{\log 2}$, $k \neq 0$ provide enough terms for our asymptotic expansion.

$$\frac{1}{t} + \frac{\gamma}{2\log 2} - \frac{1}{4} - \frac{\log \pi}{2\log 2} + \frac{\log t}{2\log 2} + \frac{1}{\log 2} \sum_{k \neq 0} \Gamma(\chi_k) \zeta(\chi_k) t^{-\chi_k}$$

Combined with the elementary factor, this leads to

$$2 + \left(\frac{\gamma}{\log 2} - \frac{1}{2} - \frac{\log \pi}{\log 2} + \frac{\log t}{\log 2}\right)t + \frac{2t}{\log 2}\sum_{k\neq 0}\Gamma(\chi_k)\zeta(\chi_k)t^{-\chi_k} + O(t^2\log t).$$

Now we want to translate into the original z-world. Since $z = \frac{u}{1+(a+2)u+u^2}$, u = 1 translates into the singularity $z = \frac{1}{a+4}$. Further,

$$t \sim \sqrt{a+4} \cdot \sqrt{1-z(a+4)},$$

let us abbreviate A = a + 4, and we now want to get the asymptotic behaviour of the coefficients in the power series expansion of

$$\frac{\sqrt{A} \cdot \sqrt{1 - zA} \log(1 - zA)}{2 \log 2} + \left(\frac{\gamma}{\log 2} - \frac{1}{2} - \frac{\log \pi}{\log 2} + \frac{\log A}{2 \log 2}\right) \sqrt{A} \cdot \sqrt{1 - zA} + \frac{2}{\log 2} \sum_{k \neq 0} \Gamma(\chi_k) \zeta(\chi_k) A^{\frac{1 - \chi_k}{2}} (1 - zA)^{\frac{1 - \chi_k}{2}}.$$

By singularity analysis (see [16, 20]), one has

$$[z^n](1-z)^{\alpha} \sim \frac{n^{-\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(-\alpha)}$$

and

$$[z^n]\log(1-z)\sqrt{1-z} \sim \frac{n^{-3/2}\log n}{2\sqrt{\pi}} + \frac{n^{-3/2}}{2\sqrt{\pi}}(-2+\gamma+2\log 2).$$

We start with the most complicated term:

$$\frac{[z^n]\frac{\sqrt{A}\cdot\sqrt{1-zA}\log(1-zA)}{2\log 2}}{[z^n]N(z)} \sim \frac{\sqrt{A}}{2\log 2} \frac{A^n \left(\frac{n^{-3/2}\log n}{2\sqrt{\pi}} + \frac{n^{-3/2}}{2\sqrt{\pi}}(-2+\gamma+2\log 2)\right)}{A^{n+1/2}\frac{1}{2\sqrt{\pi}n^{3/2}}} = \log_4 n + 1 + \frac{\gamma}{2\log 2} - \frac{1}{\log 2}.$$

The next term we consider is

$$\begin{split} \Big(\frac{\gamma}{\log 2} - \frac{1}{2} - \frac{\log \pi}{\log 2} + \frac{\log A}{2\log 2}\Big)\sqrt{A} \frac{[z^n]\sqrt{1 - zA}}{[z^n]N(z)} \\ &\sim \Big(\frac{\gamma}{\log 2} - \frac{1}{2} - \frac{\log \pi}{\log 2} + \frac{\log A}{2\log 2}\Big)\sqrt{A} \frac{[z^n]\sqrt{1 - zA}}{-\sqrt{A}[z^n]\sqrt{1 - zA}} \\ &= -\frac{\gamma}{\log 2} + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{\log \pi}{\log 2} - \frac{\log A}{2\log 2}. \end{split}$$

The last term we consider is

$$\frac{2}{\log 2}\Gamma(\chi_k)\zeta(\chi_k)A^{\frac{1-\chi_k}{2}}\frac{[z^n](1-zA)^{\frac{1-\chi_k}{2}}}{-\sqrt{A}[z^n]\sqrt{1-zA}} \sim -\frac{4\sqrt{\pi}}{\log 2}\frac{\Gamma(\chi_k)\zeta(\chi_k)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{\chi_k-1}{2}\right)}A^{\frac{1-\chi_k}{2}}n^{\chi_k/2}n^{\chi_k/2}n^{\chi_k/2}}n^{\chi_k/2}n^{\chi_k/2}n^{\chi_k/2}n^{\chi_k/2}n^{\chi_k/2$$

Eventually we have evaluated the average value of the Horton–Strahler numbers:

Theorem 4.1. The average Horton–Strahler number of weighted unary-binary trees with n nodes is given by the asymptotic formula

$$\log_4 n - \frac{\gamma}{2\log 2} - \frac{1}{\log 2} + \frac{3}{2} + \frac{\log \pi}{\log 2} - \frac{\log A}{2\log 2} - \frac{4\sqrt{\pi A}}{\log 2} \sum_{k \neq 0} \frac{\Gamma(\chi_k)\zeta(\chi_k)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{\chi_k - 1}{2}\right)} A^{\frac{-\chi_k}{2}} n^{\chi_k/2}$$
$$= \log_4 n - \frac{\gamma}{2\log 2} - \frac{1}{\log 2} + \frac{3}{2} + \frac{\log \pi}{\log 2} - \frac{\log A}{2\log 2} + \psi(\log_4 n),$$

with a tiny periodic function $\psi(x)$ of period 1.

These oscillations are usually bounded by 10^{-5} , say. See [19] for some explicit error bounds.

5. Marked ordered trees

In [12] we find the following variation of ordered trees. Each rightmost edge might be marked or not, if it does not lead to an endnode (leaf). We depict a marked edge by the red colour and draw all of them of size 4 (4 nodes):



FIGURE 2. All 10 marked ordered trees with 4 nodes.

Accordingly, the marked ordered trees satisfy the following symbolic equation (where $\mathscr{A} \cdots \mathscr{A}$ refers to ≥ 0 copies of \mathscr{A}):

$$\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{O} + \mathcal{A} \cdots \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{A} \cdots \mathcal{A} \mathcal{A} \setminus \{\circ\}$$

In terms of generating functions, this gives the functional equation

$$A(z) = z + \frac{z}{1 - A(z)}z + \frac{z}{1 - A(z)}2(A(z) - z),$$

whose solution is

$$A(z) = \frac{1 - z - \sqrt{1 - 6z + 5z^2}}{2} = z + z^2 + z^3 + 3z^3 + 10z^4 + 36z^5 + \cdots$$

In fact, as proved in [12], these trees are in bijection with an interesting family of lattice paths, called *skew Dyck paths*. The bijection performs a walk around the contour of the tree (that is, a depth-first search traversal) and translates it into a skew Dyck path as follows

- black or red edges on the way down become a (+1, +1) step,
- black edges on the way up become a (+1, -1) step,
- red edges on the way up become a (-1, -1) step.

Thus, the 10 trees of Figure 2 translate as follows into skew Dyck paths of length 6:



We will analyze several parameters of skew Dyck paths in Section 7. But, as the present author believes that trees are more manageable (than these paths) when it comes to enumeration issues, let us now investigate these marked trees in more detail.

Parameters of marked ordered trees. There are many parameters, usually considered in the context of ordered trees, that can be considered for marked ordered trees. Of course, we cannot be encyclopedic about such parameters. We just consider a few parameters and leave further analysis to the future.

The number of leaves. To get this, it is most natural to use an additional variable u when translating the symbolic equation, so that $z^n u^k$ refers to trees with n nodes and k leaves. One obtains

$$F(z, u) = zu + \frac{z}{1 - F(z, u)} \Big(zu + 2(F(z, u) - zu) \Big),$$

with the solution

$$F(z,u) = -z + \frac{zu}{2} + \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{4z^2 - 4z + z^2u^2 - 2zu + 1}$$

= $zu + z^2u + (2u + u^2)z^3 + (4u + 5u^2 + u^3)z^4 + \cdots$

The factor $4u + 5u^2 + u^3$ corresponds to distribution of leaves in the 10 trees of Figure 2.

Of interest is also the average number of leaves, when all marked ordered trees of size n are considered to be equally likely. For that, we differentiate F(z, u) with respect to u, and set u := 1, with the result

$$\frac{z}{2} + \frac{z - z^2}{2\sqrt{1 - 6z + 5z^2}} = \frac{z}{1 - v}, \quad \text{with the parametrization} \quad z = \frac{v}{1 + 3v + v^2}. \tag{5.1}$$

Since F(z, 1) = z(1 + v), it follows that the average is asymptotic to

$$\frac{[z^{n+1}]\frac{z}{1-v}}{[z^{n+1}]z(1+v)} = \frac{[z^n]\frac{1}{1-v}}{[z^n](1+v)} = \frac{[z^n]\frac{1}{\sqrt{5}}\frac{1}{\sqrt{1-5z}}}{5^{n+\frac{1}{2}}\frac{1}{2\sqrt{\pi}}n^{3/2}} = \frac{\frac{n^{-1/2}}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})}}{5^{n+\frac{1}{2}}\frac{1}{2\sqrt{\pi}}n^{3/2}} = \frac{n}{10}.$$
 (5.2)

1/9

Note that the corresponding number for ordered trees (unmarked) is $\frac{n}{2}$, so we have significantly less leaves here.

The height. As in the seminal paper [9], we define the height in terms of the longest chain of nodes from the root to a leaf. Further, let $p_h = p_h(z)$ be the generating function of marked ordered trees of height at least h. From the symbolic equation, one has

$$p_{h+1} = z + \frac{z^2}{1 - p_h} + \frac{2z(p_h - z)}{1 - p_h} = -z + \frac{2z - z^2}{1 - p_h}$$
 (for $h \ge 1$) and $p_1 = z$.

By some creative guessing, separating numerator and denominator, we find the solution (where we use the auxiliary algebraic function v, implicitly defined in (5.1)):

$$p_h = z(1+v)\frac{(1+2v)^{h-1} - v^h(v+2)^{h-1}}{(1+2v)^{h-1} - v^{h+1}(v+2)^{h-1}}.$$

This formula is in fact proved by induction (we start with $p_1 = z(1+v)\frac{1-v}{1-v^2} = z$ and, then, the induction step is best checked using a computer).

The limit of p_h for $h \to \infty$ is z(1 + v), the generating function of all marked ordered trees, as expected. Taking differences, we get the generating functions of trees of height at least h:

$$p_{\infty} - p_h = z(1 - v^2) \frac{(v+2)^{h-1}v^h}{(1+2v)^{h-1} - v^{h+1}(v+2)^{h-1}}.$$

From this, the average height can be worked out, as in the model paper [24]. We sketch the essential steps. For the average height, one needs

$$\sum_{h \ge 0} z(1-v^2) \frac{(v+2)^{h-1}v^h}{(1+2v)^{h-1} - v^{h+1}(v+2)^{h-1}}$$

and its behaviour around v = 1, viz.

$$2z(1-v)\sum_{h\geq 0}\frac{3^{h-1}v^h}{3^{h-1}-v^{h+1}3^{h-1}}\sim 2z(1-v)\sum_{h\geq 1}\frac{v^h}{1-v^h}.$$

The behaviour of the series can be taken straight from [24]. We find there

$$\sum_{h \ge 1} \frac{v^h}{1 - v^h} = -\frac{\log(1 - v)}{1 - v}$$

and

$$\sum_{h \ge 0} z(1-v^2) \frac{(v+2)^{h-1}v^h}{(1+2v)^{h-1} - v^{h+1}(v+2)^{h-1}} \sim -2z \log(1-v)$$

Thus, the coefficient of z^{n+1} is asymptotic to $-2[z^n]\log(1-v)$. Since $1-v \sim \sqrt{5}\sqrt{1-5z}$,

$$-2z\log(1-v) \sim -2z\log\sqrt{1-5z} = -z\log(1-5z),$$

and the coefficient of z^{n+1} in it is asymptotic to $\frac{5^n}{n}$. This has to be divided (as derived inside Formula (5.2)) by

$$5^{n+\frac{1}{2}}\frac{1}{2\sqrt{\pi}n^{3/2}},$$

with the result

$$2\frac{5^n}{n}\frac{1}{5^{n+\frac{1}{2}}}\sqrt{\pi}n^{3/2} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{5}}\sqrt{\pi n}.$$

Note that the constant in front of $\sqrt{\pi n}$ for ordered trees is $\frac{2}{\sqrt{4}} = 1$, so the average height for marked ordered trees is indeed a bit smaller thanks to the extra markings.

6. A BIJECTION BETWEEN MULTI-EDGE TREES AND 3-COLOURED MOTZKIN PATHS

Multi-edge trees are like ordered (planar, plane, ...) trees, but instead of edges there are multiple edges. When drawing such a tree, instead of drawing, say 5 parallel edges, we just draw one edge and put the number 5 on it as a label. These trees were studied in [14,24]. We also considered this model in our unpublished preprint arXiv:2105.03350; the bijection presented hereafter is new.

The generating function F(z) (where one counts edges) satisfies

$$F(z) = \sum_{k \ge 0} \left(\frac{z}{1-z} F(z) \right)^k = \frac{1}{1 - \frac{z}{1-z} F(z)},$$

whence

$$F(z) = \frac{1 - z - \sqrt{1 - 6z + 5z^2}}{2z} = 1 + z + 3z^2 + 10z^3 + 36z^4 + 137z^5 + 543z^6 + \cdots$$

The coefficients form sequence A002212 in the OEIS [52].

A Motzkin path consists of up-steps, down-steps, and horizontal steps; see sequence A091965 in [52] and the references given there. As Dyck paths, they start at the origin and end, after n steps again at the x-axis, but are not allowed to go below the x-axis. A 3-coloured Motzkin path is built as a Motzkin path, but there are 3 different types of horizontal steps, which we call *red*, green, blue. The generating function M(z) satisfies

$$M(z) = 1 + 3zM(z) + z^2M(z)^2 = \frac{1 - 3z - \sqrt{1 - 6z + 5z^2}}{2z^2}, \quad \text{or} \quad F(z) = 1 + zM(z)$$

So multi-edge trees with N edges (counting the multiplicities) correspond to 3-coloured Motzkin paths of length N - 1.

The purpose of this section is to describe a bijection. It transforms trees into paths, but all steps are reversible.

The details. As a first step, the multiplicities will be ignored, and the tree then has only n edges. The standard translation of such tree into the world of Dyck paths, which is in every book on combinatorics, leads to a Dyck path of length 2n. Then the Dyck path will be transformed bijectively to a 2-coloured Motzkin path of length n - 1 (the colours used are red and green). This transformation plays a prominent role in [13], but is most likely much older. I believe that people like Viennot know this for 40 years. I would be glad to get a proper historic account from the gentle readers.

The last step is then to use the third colour (blue) to deal with the multiplicities.

The first up-step and the last down-step of the Dyck path will be deleted. Then, the remaining 2n - 2 steps are coded pairwise into a 2-Motzkin path of length n - 1:

$$\checkmark \rightarrow \checkmark \qquad \checkmark \rightarrow \checkmark \qquad \land \rightarrow \bullet \qquad \checkmark \rightarrow \bullet$$

The last step is to deal with the multiplicities. If an edge is labelled with the number a, we will insert a - 1 horizontal blue steps in the following way. Since there are currently n - 1 symbols in the path, we have n possible positions to enter something (in the beginning, in the end, between symbols). We go through the tree in pre-order, and enter the multiplicities one by one using the blue horizontal steps.

To illustrate this procedure, we give in Table 1 the list of 10 multi-edge trees with 3 edges, and the corresponding 3-Motzkin paths of length 2, with intermediate steps completely worked out.

Multi-edge tree	Dyck path	2-Motzkin path	blue edges added
		\wedge	\wedge
3	\sim		
2 1			
	$\wedge \wedge$		

TABLE 1. First row is a multi-edge tree with 3 edges, second row is the standard Dyck path (multiplicities ignored), third row is cutting off first and last step, and then translated pairs of steps, fourth row is inserting blue horizontal edges, according to multiplicities.

Connecting unary-binary trees with multi-edge trees. This is not too difficult: We start from multi-edge trees, and ignore the multiplicities at the moment. Then we apply the classical rotation correspondence (also called: natural correspondence). Then we add vertical edges, if the multiplicity is higher than 1. To be precise, if there is a node, and an edge with multiplicity a leads to it from the top, we insert a - 1 extra unary nodes in a chain on the top, and connect them with unary branches.



In Table 2 below, we illustrate this procedure on 10 objects.

TABLE 2. First row is a multi-edge tree with 3 edges, second row the corresponding binary tree, according to the classical rotation correspondence, ignoring the unary branches. Third row is inserting extra horizontal edges when the multiplicities are higher than 1.

7. The combinatorics of skew Dyck paths

Let us come back to skew Dyck paths, which we introduced in Section 5 as objects in bijection with marked ordered trees. As we saw, skew Dyck paths are a variation of Dyck paths, where additionally to steps (1,1) and (1,-1) a south-west step (-1,-1)is also allowed, provided that the path does not intersect itself. Also, like for Dyck paths, it must never go below the x-axis and end eventually (after 2n steps) on the x-axis. These paths were considered in [6, 12, 26, 44]. We extend here on our paper [46], giving here additional results on the prefixes of these paths. The enumerating sequence is $1, 1, 3, 10, 36, 137, 543, 2219, 9285, 39587, 171369, \ldots$, which is A002212 in the OEIS [52].

Let us now give a more thorough analysis of skew Dyck paths, using generating functions and the kernel method. Here is the list of the 10 skew Dyck paths consisting of 6 steps:



FIGURE 3. All 10 skew Dyck paths of length 6.

We prefer to work with the equivalent model (resembling more traditional Dyck paths) where we replace each step (-1, -1) by (1, -1) but label it red (see Figure 4, and compare with Figure 3):



FIGURE 4. The 10 paths of length 6 redrawn, with red south-east edges instead of south-west edges.

The rules to generate such decorated Dyck paths are: each edge (1, -1) may be black or red, but \wedge and \vee are forbidden.

Our interest is in particular in *partial* decorated Dyck paths, ending at level j, for fixed $j \ge 0$; the instance j = 0 is the classical case. The analysis of partial skew Dyck paths was recently started by Baril et al. in [6] (using the notion 'prefix of a skew Dyck path') using Riordan arrays instead of our kernel method. The latter gives us *bivariate* generating functions, from which it is easier to draw conclusions. Two variables, z and u, are used, where z marks the length of the path and j marks the end-level. We briefly mention that one can, using a third variable w, also count the number of red edges.

Again, once all generating functions are explicitly known, many corollaries can be derived in a standard fashion. We only do this in a few instances. But we would like to emphasize that the substitution $z = \frac{v}{1+3v+v^2}$, which was used in [24, 44] allows to write *explicit enumerations*, using the notion of a (weighted) trinomial coefficient:

$$\binom{n;1,3,1}{k} := [t^k](1+3t+t^2)^n.$$

Generating functions and the kernel method. We catch the essence of a decorated Dyck path using a state-diagram:



FIGURE 5. Three layers of states according to the type of steps leading to them (up, down-black, down-red).

It has three types of states, with j ranging from 0 to infinity; in the drawing, only j = 0..8 is shown. The first layer of states refers to an up-step leading to a state, the second layer refers to a black down-step leading to a state and the third layer refers to a red down-step leading to a state. We will work out generating functions describing all paths leading to a particular state. We will use the notations f_j, g_j, h_j for the three respective layers, from top to bottom. Note that the syntactic rules of forbidden patterns \checkmark and \checkmark can be clearly seen from the picture. The functions depend on the variable z (marking the number of steps), but mostly we just write f_j instead of $f_j(z)$, etc.

The following recursions can be read off immediately from the diagram:

$$f_0 = 1, \quad f_{i+1} = zf_i + zg_i, \quad i \ge 0,$$

$$g_i = zf_{i+1} + zg_{i+1} + zh_{i+1}, \quad i \ge 0,$$

$$h_i = zg_{i+1} + zh_{i+1}, \quad i \ge 0.$$

And now it is time to introduce the promised *bivariate* generating functions:

$$F(z,u) = \sum_{i \ge 0} f_i(z)u^i, \quad G(z,u) = \sum_{i \ge 0} g_i(z)u^i, \quad H(z,u) = \sum_{i \ge 0} h_i(z)u^i.$$

Again, often we just write F(u) instead of F(z, u) and treat z as a 'silent' variable. Summing the recursions leads to

$$\sum_{i\geq 0} u^{i} f_{i+1} = \sum_{i\geq 0} u^{i} z f_{i} + \sum_{i\geq 0} u^{i} z g_{i},$$

$$\sum_{i\geq 0} u^{i} g_{i} = \sum_{i\geq 0} u^{i} z f_{i+1} + \sum_{i\geq 0} u^{i} z g_{i+1} + \sum_{i\geq 0} u^{i} z h_{i+1},$$

$$\sum_{i\geq 0} u^{i} h_{i} = \sum_{i\geq 0} u^{i} z h_{i+1} + \sum_{i\geq 0} u^{i} z g_{i+1}.$$

This can be rewritten as

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{u}(F(u)-1) &= zF(u) + zG(u),\\ G(u) &= \frac{z}{u}(F(u)-1) + \frac{z}{u}(G(u) - G(0)) + \frac{z}{u}(H(u) - H(0)),\\ H(u) &= \frac{z}{u}(G(u) - G(0)) + \frac{z}{u}(H(u) - H(0)). \end{aligned}$$

Such systems of equations having more unknowns than equations can be solved with the kernel method (see [37] for a gentle example-driven introduction to this method).

We begin by rewriting our system as

$$F(u) = \frac{z^2 u G(0) + z^2 u H(0) + z^2 u - u - z^3 + 2z}{-z^3 - u + 2z + zu^2 - z^2 u},$$
(7.1)

$$G(u) = \frac{z(H(0) - uzH(0) + z^2 + G(0) - zuG(0) - zu)}{-z^3 - u + 2z + zu^2 - z^2u},$$
(7.2)

$$H(u) = \frac{z(-uzH(0) - z^2 - zuG(0) + G(0) - z^2H(0) + H(0) - z^2G(0))}{-z^3 - u + 2z + zu^2 - z^2u}.$$
 (7.3)

The denominator is the same for each equation and it factors as $z(u-r_1)(u-r_2)$, with

$$r_1 = \frac{1 + z^2 + \sqrt{1 - 6z^2 + 5z^4}}{2z}, \quad r_2 = \frac{1 + z^2 - \sqrt{1 - 6z^2 + 5z^4}}{2z}$$

Consider Equation (7.1), since F(u) is a power series in z, the factor $u - r_2$ in the denominator is "bad"², thus this factor must also be a factor of the *numerator* (seen as a polynomial of degree 1 in u). This implies

$$G(0) = -H(0) - 1 + \frac{1}{z^2} + \frac{z - 2/z}{r_2}$$

Applying the same principle to either (7.2) or (7.3), we get after simplification

$$H(0) = \frac{1 - 4z^2 + z^4 + (z^2 - 1)\sqrt{1 - 6z^2 + 5z^4}}{2 - z^2}$$

Thus, with $W = \sqrt{1 - 6z^2 + 5z^4} = \sqrt{(1 - z^2)(1 - 5z^2)}$, one has

$$F(u) = \frac{-1 - z^2 - W}{2z(u - r_1)} = \frac{1 + z^2 + W}{2zr_1(1 - u/r_1)},$$
$$G(u) = \frac{-1 + z^2 + W}{2z(u - r_1)} = \frac{1 - z^2 - W}{2zr_1(1 - u/r_1)},$$
$$H(u) = \frac{-1 + 3z^2 + W}{2z(u - r_1)} = \frac{1 - 3z^2 - W}{2zr_1(1 - u/r_1)}.$$

The total generating function (summing the 3 cases that lead to the same level) is

$$S(u) = F(u) + G(u) + H(u) = \frac{3 - 3z^2 - W}{2zr_1(1 - u/r_1)}.$$

The coefficient of $u^j z^n$ in S(u) counts the partial paths of length n, ending at level j. We will write $s_j = [u^j]S(u)$. At this stage, we are only interested in

$$s_j = f_j + g_j + h_j = [u^j] \frac{3 - 3z^2 - W}{2zr_1(1 - u/r_1)} = \frac{3 - 3z^2 - W}{2zr_1^{j+1}},$$

which is the generating function of all (partial) paths ending at level j. Parity considerations give us that only coefficients $[z^n]s_j$ are non-zero if $n \equiv j \mod 2$. To make this more transparent, we set

$$P(z) = zr_1 = \frac{1 + z^2 + \sqrt{1 - 6z^2 + 5z^4}}{2}.$$

²In an identity having the form A(z, u) = B(z, u)/(u - r(z)), we say that the factor (u - r(z)) is bad if A(u, z) is a power series in z while 1/(u - r(z)) is not.

We thus get

$$s_j = f_j + g_j + h_j = z^j \frac{3 - 3z^2 - W}{2P^{j+1}}.$$

Now we read off coefficients. We do this using residues and contour integration. The path of integration, in both variables x resp. v is a small circle or an equivalent contour. The following computation is abbreviated.

$$[z^{2m+j}]s_j = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint \frac{dx}{x^{m+1}} \frac{(1+v)(1+2v)}{v^{j+1}(v+2)^{j+1}} (1+3v+v^2)^j$$
$$= [v^{m+j+1}] \frac{(1+v)^2(1+2v)(1-v)}{(v+2)^{j+1}} (1+3v+v^2)^{m-1+j}.$$

Note that

$$(1+v)^2(1+2v)(1-v) = -9 + 27(v+2) - 29(v+2)^2 + 13(v+2)^3 - 2(v+2)^4;$$

consequently

$$[v^{k}]\frac{(1+v)^{2}(1+2v)(1-v)}{(v+2)^{j+1}} = -9\frac{1}{2^{j+1+k}}\binom{-j-1}{k} + 27\frac{1}{2^{j+k}}\binom{-j}{k} - 29\frac{1}{2^{j-1+k}}\binom{-j+1}{k} + 13\frac{1}{2^{j-2+k}}\binom{-j+2}{k} - 2\frac{1}{2^{j-3+k}}\binom{-j+3}{k} =: \lambda_{j;k}.$$

With this abbreviation $\lambda_{j;k}$ we find

$$[v^{m+j+1}]\frac{(1+v)^2(1+2v)(1-v)}{(v+2)^{j+1}}(1+3v+v^2)^{m-1+j} = \sum_{k=0}^{m+j+1} \lambda_{j;k} \binom{m-1+j;1,3,1}{m+j+1-k}.$$

This is not extremely pretty but it is *explicit* and as good as it gets. Here are the first few generating functions:

•
$$s_0 = 1 + z^2 + 3z^4 + 10z^6 + 36z^8 + 137z^{10} + 543z^{12} + \cdots$$
,
• $s_1 = z + 2z^3 + 6z^5 + 21z^7 + 79z^9 + 311z^{11} + 1265z^{13} + \cdots$.

We could also give such lists for the functions f_j , g_j , h_j , if desired. We summarize the essential findings of this section in the following theorem.

Theorem 7.1. The generating function of decorated (partial) Dyck paths, consisting of n steps, ending on level j, is given by

$$S(z,u) = \frac{3 - 3z^2 - \sqrt{1 - 6z^2 + 5z^4}}{2zr_1(1 - u/r_1)},$$

with

$$r_1 = \frac{1 + z^2 + \sqrt{1 - 6z^2 + 5z^4}}{2z}$$

Furthermore

$$[u^{j}]S(z,u) = \frac{3 - 3z^{2} - \sqrt{1 - 6z^{2} + 5z^{4}}}{2zr_{1}^{j+1}}$$

Open ended paths. If we do not specify the end of the paths, in other words we sum over all $j \ge 0$, then at the level of generating functions this is very easy, since we only have to set u := 1. We find

$$S(1) = -\frac{(z+1)(z^2+3z-2) + (z+2)\sqrt{1-6z^2+5z^4}}{2z(z^2+2z-1)}$$

= 1 + z + 2z^2 + 3z^3 + 7z^4 + 11z^5 + 26z^6 + 43z^7 + 102z^8 + 175z^9 + 416z^{10} + \cdots

Counting red edges. We can use an extra variable, w, to count additionally the red edges that occur in a path. We use the same letters for generating functions. Eventually, the coefficient $[z^n u^j w^k]S$ is the number of (partial) paths consisting of n steps, leading to level j, and having passed k red edges. The endpoint of the original skew path has then coordinates (n - 2k, j). The computations are very similar, and we only sketch the key steps.

$$f_0 = 1, \quad f_{i+1} = zf_i + zg_i, \quad i \ge 0,$$

$$g_i = zf_{i+1} + zg_{i+1} + zh_{i+1}, \quad i \ge 0,$$

$$h_i = wzg_{i+1} + wzh_{i+1}, \quad i \ge 0;$$

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{u}(F(u)-1) &= zF(u) + zG(u), \\ G(u) &= \frac{z}{u}(F(u)-1) + \frac{z}{u}(G(u)-G(0)) + \frac{z}{u}(H(u)-H(0)), \\ H(u) &= \frac{wz}{u}(G(u)-G(0)) + \frac{wz}{u}(H(u)-G(0)); \end{split}$$

$$F(u) = \frac{z^2 u G(0) + z^2 u H(0) + z^2 u - u - wz^3 + z + wz}{-wz^3 - u + z + wz + zu^2 - wz^2 u},$$

$$G(u) = \frac{z(H(0) - uzH(0) + wz^2 + G(0) - zuG(0) - zu)}{-wz^3 - u + z + wz + zu^2 - wz^2 u},$$

$$H(u) = \frac{wz(-uzH(0) - z^2 - zuG(0) + G(0) - z^2H(0) + H(0) - z^2G(0))}{-wz^3 - u + z + wz + zu^2 - wz^2 u}$$

The denominator factors as $z(u - r_1)(u - r_2)$, with

$$r_{1} = \frac{1 + wz^{2} + \sqrt{1 - (4 + 2w)z^{2} + (4w + w^{2})z^{4}}}{2z}$$
$$r_{2} = \frac{1 + wz^{2} - \sqrt{1 - (4 + 2w)z^{2} + (4w + w^{2})z^{4}}}{2z}$$

Note the factorization $1 - (4+2w)z^2 + (4w+w^2)z^4 = (1-z^2w)(1-(4+w)z^2)$. Since the factor $u - r_2$ in the denominator is "bad," it must also cancel in the numerators. From this we eventually find, with the abbreviation $W = \sqrt{1 - (4+2w)z^2 + (4w+w^2)z^4}$:

$$F(u) = \frac{-1 - wz^2 - W}{2z(u - r_1)}, \qquad G(u) = \frac{-1 + wz^2 + W}{2z(u - r_1)}, \qquad H(u) = \frac{-1 + (2 + w)z^2 + W}{2z(u - r_1)}$$

The total generating function is

$$S(u) = F(u) + G(u) + H(u) = \frac{-2 - w + z^2(w + w^2) + wW}{2z(u - r_1)}$$

The special case u = 0 (return to the x-axis) is to be noted:

$$S(0) = \frac{-2 - w + z^2(w + w^2) + wW}{-2zr_1} = \frac{1 - wz^2 - W}{2z^2}$$

Since there are only even powers of z in this function, we replace $x = z^2$ and get

$$S(0) = \frac{1 - wx - \sqrt{1 - (4 + 2w)x + (4w + w^2)x^2}}{2x}$$

= 1 + x + (w + 2)x² + (w² + 4w + 5)x³ + (w³ + 6w² + 15w + 14)x⁴ + ...

Compare the factor $(w^2 + 4w + 5)$ with the earlier drawing of the 10 paths.

There is again a substitution that allows for better results:

$$z = \frac{v}{1 + (2 + w)v + v^2}$$
, then $S(0) = 1 + v$.

Reading off coefficients can now be done using modified trinomial coefficients:

$$\binom{n;1,2+w,1}{k} = [t^k] \left(1 + (2+w)t + t^2\right)^n.$$

Again, we use contour integration to extract coefficients:

$$\begin{split} [x^{n}](1+v) &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint \frac{dx}{x^{n+1}} (1+v) \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint \frac{dx}{v^{n+1}} \frac{1-v^{2}}{(1+(2+w)v+v^{2})^{2}} (1+(2+w)v+v^{2})^{n+1} (1+v) \\ &= [v^{n}](1-v)(1+v)^{2} (1+(2+w)v+v^{2})^{n-1} \\ &= \binom{n-1;1,2+w,1}{n} + \binom{n-1;1,2+w,1}{n-1} \\ &- \binom{n-1;1,2+w,1}{n-2} - \binom{n-1;1,2+w,1}{n-3}. \end{split}$$

Now we want to count the average number of red edges. For that, we differentiate S(0) with respect to w, and set w := 1. This leads to

$$\frac{-1+6x-5x^2+(1+3x)\sqrt{1-6x+5x^2}}{2(1-x)(1-5x)}.$$

A simple application of singularity analysis leads to $\frac{\frac{1}{2\sqrt{5}}[x^n]\frac{1}{\sqrt{1-5x}}}{-\sqrt{5}[x^n]\sqrt{1-5x}} \sim \frac{n}{5}.$

So, a random path consisting of 2n steps has about n/5 red steps, on average. For readers who are not familiar with singularity analysis of generating functions [16,20], we just mention that one determines the local expansion around the dominating singularity, which is at $z = \frac{1}{5}$ in our instance. In the denominator, we just have the total number of skew Dyck paths, according to the sequence A002212 in the OEIS [52]. In the example of Figure 2, the exact average is 6/10, which curiously is exactly the same as 3/5.

We finish the discussion by considering fixed powers of w in S(0), counting skew Dyck paths consisting of zero, one, two, three, ... red edges. We find

$$[w^{0}]S(0) = \frac{1 - \sqrt{1 - 4x}}{2x}, \quad [w^{1}]S(0) = \frac{1 - 2x - \sqrt{1 - 4x}}{2\sqrt{1 - 4x}},$$
$$[w^{2}]S(0) = \frac{x^{3}}{(1 - 4x)^{3/2}}, \quad [w^{3}]S(0) = \frac{x^{4}(1 - 2x)}{(1 - 4x)^{5/2}}, \quad \&c.$$

The generating function $[w^0]S(0)$ is of course the generating function of Catalan numbers, since no red edges just means: ordinary Dyck paths. We can also conclude that the asymptotic behaviour is of the form $n^{k-3/2}4^n$, where the polynomial contribution gets higher, but the exponential growth stays the same: 4^n . This is compared to the scenario of an *arbitrary* number of red edges, when we get an exponential growth of the form 5^n .

Dual skew Dyck paths. The mirrored version of skew Dyck paths with two types of up-steps, (1,1) and (-1,1) are also cited among the objects in A002212 in the OEIS [52]. We call them dual skew paths and drop the 'dual' when it isn't necessary. When the paths come back to the x-axis, no new enumeration is necessary, but this is no longer true for paths ending at level j.

Here is a list of the 10 skew paths consisting of 6 steps:



FIGURE 6. All 10 dual skew Dyck paths of length 6 (consisting of 6 steps).

We prefer to work with the equivalent model (resembling more traditional Dyck paths) where we replace each step (-1, -1) by (1, -1) but label it blue. Here is the list of the 10 paths again (Figure 2):



FIGURE 7. All 10 dual skew Dyck paths of length 6 (consisting of 6 steps).

The rules to generate such decorated Dyck paths are: Each edge (1, -1) may be black or blue, but \checkmark and \land are forbidden.

Our interest is in particular in *partial* decorated Dyck paths, ending at level j, for fixed $j \ge 0$; the instance j = 0 is the classical case.

As before, two variables, z and u, are used, where z marks the length of the path and j marks the end-level. We briefly mention that one can, using a third variable w, also count the number of blue edges. The substitution $x = \frac{v}{1+3v+v^2}$ is again the key to the success.

Generating functions and the kernel method. We catch the essence of a decorated (dual skew) Dyck path using a state-diagram:



FIGURE 8. Three layers of states according to the type of steps leading to them (down, up-black, up-blue).

It has three types of states, with j ranging from 0 to infinity; in the drawing, only j = 0..8 is shown. The first layer of states refers to an up-step leading to a state, the second layer refers to a black down-step leading to a state and the third layer refers to a blue down-step leading to a state. We will work out generating functions describing all paths leading to a particular state. We will use the notations c_j, a_j, b_j for the three respective layers, from top to bottom. Note that the syntactic rules of forbidden patterns \land and \checkmark can be clearly seen from the picture. The functions depend on the variable z (marking the number of steps), but mostly we just write a_j instead of $a_j(z)$, etc.

The following recursions can be read off immediately from the diagram:

$$a_{0} = 1, \quad a_{i+1} = za_{i} + zb_{i} + zc_{i}, \quad i \ge 0,$$

$$b_{i} = za_{i+1} + zb_{i+1}, \quad i \ge 0,$$

$$c_{i+1} = za_{i} + zc_{i}, \quad i \ge 0.$$

And now it is time to introduce the *bivariate* generating functions:

$$A(z, u) = \sum_{i \ge 0} a_i(z)u^i, \quad B(z, u) = \sum_{i \ge 0} b_i(z)u^i, \quad C(z, u) = \sum_{i \ge 0} c_i(z)u^i.$$

Summing the recursions leads to

$$\sum_{i\geq 0} u^{i}a_{i} = 1 + u \sum_{i\geq 0} u^{i}(za_{i} + zb_{i} + zc_{i}) = 1 + uzA(u) + uzB(u) + uzC(u),$$

$$\sum_{i\geq 0} u^{i}b_{i} = \sum_{i\geq 0} u^{i}(za_{i+1} + zb_{i+1}) = \frac{z}{u} \sum_{i\geq 1} u^{i}a_{i} + \frac{z}{u} \sum_{i\geq 1} u^{i}b_{i},$$

$$\sum_{i\geq 1} u^{i}c_{i} = uz \sum_{i\geq 0} u^{i}a_{i} + uz \sum_{i\geq 0} u^{i}c_{i}.$$

This can be rewritten as

$$A(u) = 1 + uzA(u) + uzB(u) + uzC(u),$$

$$B(u) = \frac{z}{u}(A(u) - a_0) + \frac{z}{u}(B(u) - b_0),$$

$$C(u) = c_0 + uzA(u) + uzC(u).$$

Note that $a_0 = 1$, $c_0 = 0$. Simplification leads to

$$C(u) = \frac{uzA(u)}{1 - uz}$$
 and $B(u) = \frac{z(A(u) - 1 - B(0))}{u - z}$.

This leaves us with just one equation

$$A(u) = \frac{(z - u + uz^{2} + uz^{2}B(0))(uz - 1)}{u^{2}z^{3} + uz^{2} - 2u^{2}z - z + u}.$$

This is again a typical application of the kernel method: One writes

$$u^{2}z^{3} + uz^{2} - 2u^{2}z - z + u = z(z^{2} - 2)(u - s_{1})(u - s_{2}).$$

The denominator thus factors as $2z(z^2-2)(u-s_1)(u-s_2)$, with

$$s_1 = \frac{1 + z^2 + \sqrt{1 - 6z^2 + 5z^4}}{2z(2 - z^2)}, \quad s_2 = \frac{1 + z^2 - \sqrt{1 - 6z^2 + 5z^4}}{2z(2 - z^2)}.$$

Note that $s_1s_2 = \frac{1}{2-z^2}$. Since the factor $u - s_2$ in the denominator is "bad," it must also cancel in the numerators. We get $B(0) = \frac{zs_2}{1-2zs_2}$ and, again with the abbreviation $W = \sqrt{1 - 6z^2 + 5z^4}$,

$$A(u) = \frac{(1-uz)(1+z^2+W)}{2z(z^2-2)(u-s_1)}, \quad B(u) = \frac{1-2z^2-W}{z(2-z^2)(u-s_1)}, \quad C(u) = \frac{1+z^2+W}{2(z^2-2)}\frac{u}{u-s_1}$$

and for the function of main interest

$$G(u) = A(u) + B(u) + C(u) = \frac{3z^2 - 3 + W}{2z(2 - z^2)(u - s_1)}$$

Since one has

$$\frac{1}{s_1} = \frac{1 + z^2 - \sqrt{1 - 6z^2 + 5z^4}}{2z} = zS \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{1}{s_2} = \frac{1 + z^2 + \sqrt{1 - 6z^2 + 5z^4}}{2z},$$

we then get

$$[u^{j}]G(u) = [u^{j}]\frac{3z^{2} - 3 + W}{2z(z^{2} - 2)s_{1}(1 - u/s_{1})} = \frac{3z^{2} - 3 + W}{2z(z^{2} - 2)s_{1}^{j+1}} = \frac{3z^{2} - 3 + W}{2(z^{2} - 2)}z^{j}S^{j+1}$$

So $[u^j]G(u)$ contains only powers of the form z^{j+2N} . Now we continue

$$\begin{split} [z^{j+2N}u^j]G(u) &= [z^{2N}]\frac{3z^2 - 3 + W}{2(z^2 - 2)}S^{j+1} \\ &= [x^N]\frac{3x - 3 + \sqrt{1 - 6x + 5x^2}}{2(x - 2)} \left(\frac{1 + x - \sqrt{1 - 6x + 5x^2}}{2x}\right)^{j+1} \\ &= [x^N](v + 1)(v + 2)^j \end{split}$$

which is the generating function of all (partial) paths ending at level j.

Now we read off coefficients as before:

$$\begin{split} [z^{j+2N}u^{j}]G(u) &= [x^{N}](v+1)(v+2)^{j} \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint \frac{dx}{x^{N+1}}(v+1)(v+2)^{j} \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint \frac{dv}{v^{N+1}}(1+3v+v^{2})^{N+1}\frac{(1-v^{2})}{(1+3v+v^{2})^{2}}(v+1)(v+2)^{j} \\ &= [v^{N}](1+3v+v^{2})^{N-1}(1-v)(1+v)^{2}(v+2)^{j}. \end{split}$$

Note that

$$(1-v)(1+v)^2 = 3 - 7(v+2) + 5(v+2)^2 - (v+2)^3;$$

consequently

$$[z^{j+2N}u^{j}]G(u) = [v^{N}](1+3v+v^{2})^{N-1} \left[3-7(v+2)+5(v+2)^{2}-(v+2)^{3}\right](v+2)^{j}$$

We abbreviate:

$$\mu_{j;k} = [v^k] \left[3(v+2)^j - 7(v+2)^{j+1} + 5(v+2)^{j+2} - (v+2)^{j+3} \right]$$

= $3 \binom{j}{k} 2^{j-k} - 7 \binom{j+1}{k} 2^{j+1-k} + 5 \binom{j+2}{k} 2^{j+2-k} - \binom{j+3}{k} 2^{j+3-k}.$

With this notation we get

$$[z^{j+2N}u^j]G(u) = \sum_{0 \le k \le N-1} \mu_{j;k} \binom{N-1;1,3,1}{N-k}$$

Here are the first few generating functions:

- $G_0 = 1 + z^2 + 3z^4 + 10z^6 + 36z^8 + 137z^{10} + 543z^{12} + 2219z^{14} + \cdots$
- $G_1 = 2z + 3z^3 + 10z^5 + 36z^7 + 137z^9 + 543z^{11} + 2219z^{13} + 9285z^{15} + \cdots$,
- $G_2 = 4z^2 + 8z^4 + 29z^6 + 111z^8 + 442z^{10} + 1813z^{12} + 7609z^{14} + 32521z^{16} + \cdots$
- $G_3 = 8z^3 + 20z^5 + 78z^7 + 315z^9 + 1306z^{11} + 5527z^{13} + 23779z^{15} + 103699z^{17} + \cdots$

We could also give such lists for the functions a_j , b_j , c_j , if desired. We summarize the essential findings of the rest of this section:

Theorem 7.2. The generating function of decorated (partial) dual skew Dyck paths, consisting of n steps, ending on level j, is given by

$$G(z,u) = \frac{3z^2 - 3 + \sqrt{1 - 6z^2 + 5z^4}}{2z(2 - z^2)(u - s_1)},$$

with

$$s_1 = \frac{2z}{1 + z^2 - \sqrt{1 - 6z^2 + 5z^4}}$$

Furthermore

$$[u^{j}]G(z,u) = \frac{3z^{2} - 3 + \sqrt{1 - 6z^{2} + 5z^{4}}}{2(z^{2} - 2)}z^{j}S^{j+1},$$

with

$$S = \frac{1 + z^2 - \sqrt{1 - 6z^2 + 5z^4}}{2z^2}$$

Open ended paths. If we do not specify the end of the paths, in other words we sum over all $j \ge 0$, then at the level of generating functions this is very easy, since we only have to set u := 1. We find

$$G(1) = \frac{(1+z)(1-3z)}{2z(z^2+2z-1) - \sqrt{1-6z^2+5z^4}}$$

= 1+2z+5z^2+11z^3+27z^4+62z^5+151z^6+354z^7+859z^8+2036z^9+\cdots

Counting blue edges. We use an extra variable w as before to count additionally the blue edges that occur in a path. Eventually, the coefficient $[z^n u^j w^k]S$ is the number of (partial) paths consisting of n steps, leading to level j, and having passed k blue edges. The endpoint of the original skew path has then coordinates (n-2k, j). The computations are very similar, and we only sketch the key steps.

$$a_{0} = 1, \quad a_{i+1} = za_{i} + zb_{i} + zc_{i}, \quad i \ge 0,$$

$$b_{i} = za_{i+1} + zb_{i+1}, \quad i \ge 0,$$

$$c_{i+1} = wza_{i} + wzc_{i}, \quad i \ge 0.$$

This leads to

$$A(u) = 1 + uzA(u) + uzB(u) + uzC(u),$$

$$B(u) = \frac{z}{u}(A(u) - a_0) + \frac{z}{u}(B(u) - b_0),$$

$$C(u) = c_0 + wuzA(u) + wuzC(u).$$

Solving,

$$S(u) = A(u) + B(u) + C(u) = \frac{u - wuz^2 - zA(0) - zB(0) + uwz^2A(0) + uwz^2B(0)}{u^2 z^3 w + u - wu^2 z - u^2 z - z + wuz^2}$$

The denominator factors as $-z(1+w-z^2w)(u-s_1)(u-s_2)$, with

$$s_{1} = \frac{1 + z^{2}w + \sqrt{1 - 2z^{2}w + z^{4}w^{2} - 4z^{2} + 4z^{4}w}}{2z(1 + w - z^{2}w)},$$

$$s_{2} = \frac{1 + z^{2}w - \sqrt{1 - 2z^{2}w + z^{4}w^{2} - 4z^{2} + 4z^{4}w}}{2z(1 + w - z^{2}w)}.$$

Note the factorization $1 - (4 + 2w)z^2 + (4w + w^2)z^4 = (1 - z^2w)(1 - (4 + w)z^2)$. Since the factor $u - r_2$ in the denominator is "bad," it must also cancel in the numerators. From this we eventually find, with the abbreviation $W = \sqrt{1 - (4 + 2w)z^2 + (4w + w^2)z^4}$

$$G(0) = \frac{1 - z^2 w - W}{2z^2},$$

and further

$$G(u) = \frac{w - z^2 w^2 - wW + 2 - 2z^2 w}{2z \left(-w - 1 + z^2 w\right) \left(u - s_1\right)}$$

The special case u = 0 (return to the x-axis) is to be noted:

$$G(0) = 1 + z^{2} + (w+2)z^{4} + (w^{2} + 4w + 5)z^{6} + (w+2)(w^{2} + 4w + 7)z^{8} + \cdots$$

Compare the factor $(w^2 + 4w + 5)$ with the earlier drawing of the 10 paths. There is again a substitution that allows for better results:

$$z = \frac{v}{1 + (2 + w)v + v^2}$$
, then $G(0) = 1 + v$.

Since S(u) = G(u) with S(u) from the first part of the paper, as it means the same objects, read from left to right resp. from right to left, no new analysis is required.

8. More about Motzkin paths

Several other interesting problems related to Motzkin paths were considered in the literature. To wet the readers appetite, we briefly mention below the Retakh paths, the amplitude of paths, and then analyze in more detail skew Motzkin paths.

Retakh's Motzkin paths. V. Retakh [15] introduced a restricted class of Dyck paths: Peaks are only allowed on level 1 and on even-numbered levels. For the analysis of this class using generating functions, including also the average height and the number of leaves; see [43].

The amplitude of Motzkin paths. Another interesting parameter is the amplitude of Motzkin paths that was recently analyzed in [45]. Here, we want to give a few introductory remarks. The average height of a random Motzkin path of length n was considered in an early paper [35], it is asymptotically given by $\sqrt{\frac{\pi n}{3}}$.

In the recent paper [8] an interesting new concept was introduced: the *amplitude*. It is basically twice the height, but with a twist. If there exists a horizontal step on level h, which is the height, the amplitude is 2h + 1, otherwise it is 2h. To clarify the concept, we created a list of all 9 Motzkin paths of length 4 with height and amplitude given.

1		0	1
	Yes	0	1
	No	1	2
\sim	No	1	2
\sim	Yes	1	3
	Yes	1	3
	Yes	1	3
	No	1	2
	No	1	2
\frown	No	2	4

Motzkin path | horizontal on maximal level | height | amplitude

The goal of an extended analysis is to investigate this new parameter, using trinomial coefficients $\binom{n,3}{k} = [t^k](1+t+t^2)^n$ (notation following Comtet's book [7]). The intuitive result that the average amplitude is about twice the average height, can be confirmed.

Skew Motzkin paths. This section was written to provide a more complete analysis related to [30]. The methods are of course by now familiar to the readers.

As seen before, Motzkin paths allow additional flat (horizontal) steps of unit length. A skew path allows 'left' step (-1, -1) as well, but the path is not allowed to intersect itself. We prefer 'red' steps (1, -1); see our analysis in [46]. For Motzkin paths, some analysis was provided in [30]. Here, we provide further analysis that allows to consider partial paths as well, so we do not need to land at the x-axis. It uses the kernel method [37].

Apart from being not below the x-axis, the restrictions are that a left (red) step cannot follow or precede an up-step. The situation is best described by a graph (state-diagram); see Figure 9.



FIGURE 9. Four layers of states according to the type of steps leading to them. Traditional up-steps and down-steps are black, level-steps are blue, and left steps are red.

In further sections, the asymptotic equivalent for the number of skew Motzkin paths of given size is derived, as well as the *height*, meaning that the generating function of paths with a bounded height (bounded by H) is given, as well as the average height, which is approximately const $\cdot \sqrt{n}$, which is typical for families of paths.

Generating functions for skew Motzkin paths. We translate the state diagram accordingly; f_j, g_j, h_j, k_j are generating functions in the variable z (marking the length of the path), ending at level j. The four families are related to the four layers of states.

$$\begin{split} f_{j+1} &= zf_j + zg_j + zh_j, \ f_0 = 1, \\ g_j &= zf_{j+1} + zg_{j+1} + zh_{j+1} + zk_{j+1}, \\ h_j &= zf_j + zg_j + zh_j + zk_j, \\ k_j &= zg_{j+1} + zh_{j+1} + zk_{j+1}. \end{split}$$

Now we introduce bivariate generating functions, namely

$$F(u) := \sum_{j \ge 0} f_j u^j, \quad G(u) := \sum_{j \ge 0} g_j u^j, \quad H(u) := \sum_{j \ge 0} h_j u^j, \quad K(u) := \sum_{j \ge 0} k_j u^j.$$

The recursions then take this form:

$$F(u) = 1 + zuF(u) + zuG(u) + zuH(u),$$

$$uG(u) = zF(u) + zG(u) + zH(u) + zK(u) - z - zg_0 - zh_0 - zk_0,$$

$$H(u) = zF(u) + zG(u) + zH(u) + zK(u),$$

$$uK(u) = zG(u) + zH(u) + K(u) - zg_0 + zh_0 + zk_0.$$

Solving the system,

$$F(u) = \frac{\mathscr{F}}{2z - u + zu - z^2u + zu^2 - z^3 - z^3u},$$

$$G(u) = \frac{\mathscr{G}}{2z - u + zu - z^2u + zu^2 - z^3 - z^3u},$$

$$H(u) = \frac{\mathscr{H}}{2z - u + zu - z^2u + zu^2 - z^3 - z^3u},$$

$$K(u) = \frac{\mathscr{H}}{2z - u + zu - z^2u + zu^2 - z^3 - z^3u},$$

with

$$\begin{split} \mathscr{F} &= -z^3 + 2z - u + zu + z^2u + z^2ug_0 + z^2uh_0 + z^2uk_0 + z^3ug_0 + z^3uh_0 + z^3uk_0, \\ \mathscr{G} &= -z^2h_0 + z^4 + z^4k_0 - z^2ug_0 - z^2u - z^2k_0 - z^2 - z^2uh_0 - z^2uk_0 + z^4h_0 + z^3 - z^2g_0 + zh_0 \\ &+ zg_0 + zk_0 + z^4g_0, \\ \mathscr{H} &= -z^4 + 2z^2g_0 + 2z^2h_0 + 2z^2k_0 + 2z^2 - zu - z^4g_0 - z^4h_0 - z^4k_0 - z^3ug_0 - z^3uh_0 - z^3uk_0, \\ \mathscr{K} &= zg_0 - z^3 - z^2g_0 - z^2h_0 + zk_0 - z^2k_0 - z^3g_0 - z^3h_0 - z^3k_0. \end{split}$$

One cannot immediately insert u = 0 to identify the constants, but one can use the kernel method. For that, one factorizes the denominator:

$$2z - u + zu - z^{2}u + zu^{2} - z^{3} - z^{3}u = z(u - u_{1})(u - u_{2})$$

with

$$u_1 = \frac{1 - z + z^2 + z^3 + (1 + z)W}{2z}, \quad u_2 = \frac{1 - z + z^2 + z^3 - (1 + z)W}{2z}$$

and

$$W = \sqrt{(1-z)(1-3z-z^2-z^3)} = \sqrt{1-4z+2z^2+z^4}$$

Since $u_2 \sim 2z$ for small $z, u - u_2$ is a 'bad' factor and must cancel from both, numerator and denominator. This yields

$$F(u) = \frac{-1 + z + z^2 + z^2 g_0 + z^2 h_0 + z^2 k_0 + z^3 g_0 + z^3 h_0 + z^3 k_0}{z(u - u_1)},$$

$$G(u) = \frac{-z^2 - z^2 g_0 - z^2 h_0 - z^2 k_0}{z(u - u_1)},$$

$$H(u) = \frac{-z - z^3 g_0 - z^3 h_0 - z^3 k_0}{z(u - u_1)},$$

$$K(u) = \frac{-z^2 g_0 - z^2 h_0 - z^2 k_0}{z(u - u_1)}.$$

Now we can plug in u = 0 and identify the constants:

$$g_{0} = \frac{-z^{5} + z^{3}W - z^{2} - zW + 3z - 1 + W}{2z^{2}(-2 + z^{2})},$$

$$h_{0} = -\frac{-z^{2} + 2z - 1 + W}{2z},$$

$$k_{0} = -\frac{-z^{4} + z^{3} + z^{2}W + zW - 3z + 1 - W}{2z^{2}(-2 + z^{2})}.$$

Adding these quantities yields

$$1 + g_0 + h_0 + k_0 = -\frac{-z^2 + 2z - 1 + W}{2z^2},$$

which is the generating function of the number of skew Motzkin paths (returning to the x-axis); the series expansion is

$$1 + z + 2z^{2} + 5z^{3} + 13z^{4} + 35z^{5} + 97z^{6} + 275z^{7} + 794z^{8} + 2327z^{9} + 6905z^{10} + 20705z^{11} + \cdots,$$

as already given in [30], the coefficients are the sequence A082582 in the OEIS [52].

We further get

$$F(u) = \frac{-1 + z - z^2 - z^3 + u_2 z}{z(u - u_1)},$$

$$G(u) = \frac{(z - u_2)}{(u - u_1)(1 + z)},$$

$$H(u) = \frac{-1 - z + 2z^2 + z^3 - zu_2}{(u - u_1)(1 + z)},$$

$$K(u) = \frac{z^2 + 2z - u_2}{(u - u_1)(1 + z)}.$$

Altogether,

$$F(z) + G(z) + H(z) + K(z) = \frac{-1 - z + 2z^2 + z^3 - zu_2}{z(u - u_1)(1 + z)}$$

and

$$[u^{j}](F(z) + G(z) + H(z) + K(z)) = \frac{1 + z - 2z^{2} - z^{3} + zu_{2}}{z(1+z)u_{1}^{j+1}}$$

which is the generating function of partial skew Motzkin paths, landing on level j. Here are the examples for j = 1, 2, 3, 4 (leading terms only):

$$\begin{split} z+2z^2+5z^3+13z^4+36z^5+102z^6+295z^7+866z^8+2574z^9+7730z^{10}+23419z^{11},\\ z^2+3z^3+9z^4+26z^5+77z^6+230z^7+694z^8+2110z^9+6459z^{10}+19890z^{11}+61577z^{12},\\ z^3+4z^4+14z^5+45z^6+143z^7+451z^8+1421z^9+4478z^{10}+14129z^{11}+44654z^{12},\\ z^4+5z^5+20z^6+71z^7+242z^8+806z^9+2653z^{10}+8670z^{11}+28213z^{12}. \end{split}$$

One can also substitute u = 1, which means that *all* partial skew Motzkin paths are counted with respect to length, regardless on which level they end:

$$\frac{2 - 3z - 7z^2 - z^3 + z^4 - (2 + z)(1 + z)W}{2z(1 + z)(2z^2 + 3z - 1)}.$$

The series expansion is

 $1 + 2z + 5z^{2} + 14z^{3} + 40z^{4} + 117z^{5} + 348z^{6} + 1049z^{7} + 3196z^{8} + 9823z^{9} + 30413z^{10} + \cdots$

Counting flat and left (red) steps. Using two extra variables t and w, we can count the number of flat resp. left steps in a skew Motzkin path. The recursions are self-explanatory.

$$f_{j+1} = zf_j + zg_j + zh_j, \ f_0 = 1,$$

$$g_j = zf_{j+1} + zg_{j+1} + zh_{j+1} + zk_{j+1},$$

$$h_j = ztf_j + ztg_j + zth_j + ztk_j,$$

$$k_j = zwg_{j+1} + zwh_{j+1} + zwk_{j+1}.$$

Again, here is the system for the multi-variate generating functions;

$$F(u) = 1 + zuF(u) + zuG(u) + zuH(u),$$

$$uG(u) = zF(u) + zG(u) + zH(u) + zK(u) - z - zg_0 - zh_0 - zk_0,$$

$$H(u) = ztF(u) + ztG(u) + ztH(u) + ztK(u),$$

$$uK(u) = zwG(u) + zwH(u) + zwK(u) - zwg_0 + zwh_0 + zwk_0.$$

And following a similar procedure as before we get

$$1 + g_0 + h_0 + k_0 = \frac{-zw + u_2}{z(1+wt)}$$

= 1 + tz + (t² + 1)z² + (tw + 3t + t³)z³ + (2 + 6t² + w + 3wt² + t⁴)z⁴ + ...;

the quantity u_2 is now

$$u_2 = \frac{1 - tz + wz^2 + twz^3 - \sqrt{(1 - z^2w)(1 - 2tz + (t^2 - 4 - w)z^2 - 2twz^3 - wt^2z^4)}}{2z}.$$

Quantities like F(u), G(u), H(u), K(u) can also be computed easily, following the approach from the previous section.

Asymptotics for the number of skew Motzkin paths. We must analyze the generating function

$$\mathscr{SM} = \frac{(1-z)^2 - \sqrt{(1-z)(1-3z-z^2-z^3)}}{2z^2}$$

which is of the sqrt-type [16,20] around the singularity ρ closest to the origin, which we call ρ . It is a solution of $1 - 3z - z^2 - z^3 = 0$ and can be expressed as

$$\rho = \frac{\sqrt[3]{26 + 6\sqrt{33}}}{3} - \frac{8}{3\sqrt[3]{26 + 6\sqrt{33}}} - \frac{1}{3} \approx 0.295597.$$

Expanding the generating function around $z = \rho$, we get

$$\mathcal{SM} \sim \frac{(1-\rho)^2 + 2\sqrt{(1-\rho-\rho^3)(z-\rho)}}{2\rho^2}.$$

Singularity analysis of generating function [16, 20] gives the estimate

$$[z^{n}]\mathscr{SM} \sim \frac{\sqrt{1-\rho-\rho^{3}}}{2\sqrt{\pi\rho^{3}}}\rho^{-n}n^{-3/2}.$$
(8.1)

The error at n = 100 is about 3%. This is to be expected by this type of approximation.

Skew Motzkin paths of bounded height. Now we introduce a parameter h and do not allow the path to reach any level higher than h. We can still work with the system

$$\begin{split} f_{j+1} &= zf_j + zg_j + zh_j, \ 0 \leq j \leq h-1, \ f_0 = 1, \\ g_j &= zf_{j+1} + zg_{j+1} + zh_{j+1} + zk_{j+1}, \ 0 \leq j < h, \\ h_j &= zf_j + zg_j + zh_j + zk_j, \ 0 \leq j \leq h, \\ k_j &= zg_{j+1} + zh_{j+1} + zk_{j+1}, \ 0 \leq j < h. \end{split}$$

This is now a finite linear system, and we are only interested in paths that return to the x-axis. For a given h, we write $s[h] = f_0 + g_0 + h_0 + k_0$ for the generating function of path of height $\leq h$. It can be proved that both the numerator and the denominator of s[h] satisfy the recursion

$$X_{h+2} + (-1 + z - z^2 - z^3)X_{h+1} + (2z^2 - z^4)X_h = 0.$$

Thus, adjusting this to the initial conditions, we get

$$s[h] = \frac{A_o(1+z^3+z^2-z+\omega)^h + B_o(1+z^3+z^2-z-\omega)^h}{A_u(1+z^3+z^2-z+\omega)^h + B_u(1+z^3+z^2-z-\omega)^h}$$

with

$$\omega = \sqrt{z^6 + 2z^5 + 3z^4 - 5z^2 - 2z + 1},$$

$$A_o = (z^3 + z^2 + 3z - 1)(z + 1) + (z - 1)\omega,$$

$$B_o = (z^3 + z^2 + 3z - 1)(z + 1) - (z - 1)\omega,$$

$$A_u = (1 - z^2)(z^3 + z^2 + 3z - 1) + \frac{z^3 - z^2 + 3z - 1}{1 - z}\omega,$$

$$B_u = (1 - z^2)(z^3 + z^2 + 3z - 1) - \frac{z^3 - z^2 + 3z - 1}{1 - z}\omega.$$

When h goes to infinity, the second terms go away, and we are left with

$$s[\infty] = \frac{A_o}{A_u} = \frac{(1-z)^2 - \sqrt{(1-z)(1-3z-z^2-z^3)}}{2z^2} = \mathscr{SM},$$

as expected. Now we consider s[>h], the generating function of skew Motzkin paths of height > h. Taking differences, we find

$$\begin{split} s[>h] &= s[\infty] - s[h] = \frac{A_o B_u - A_u B_o}{A_u} \frac{(1+z^3+z^2-z-\omega)^h}{A_u (1+z^3+z^2-z+\omega)^h + B_u (1+z^3+z^2-z-\omega)^h} \\ &\sim \frac{A_o B_u - A_u B_o}{A_u^2} \frac{\left(\frac{1+z^3+z^2-z-\omega}{1+z^3+z^2-z+\omega}\right)^h}{1-\left(\frac{1+z^3+z^2-z-\omega}{1+z^3+z^2-z+\omega}\right)^h}. \end{split}$$

A computer computation leads to (always in the neighbourhood of $z = \rho$)

$$\frac{A_o B_u - A_u B_o}{A_u^2} \sim 18.854986275200314363\sqrt{\rho - z}.$$

Now we approximate and write for convenience:

$$\frac{1+z^3+z^2-z-\omega}{1+z^3+z^2-z+\omega} \sim 1 - 5.2213516788791457598\sqrt{\rho-z}$$
$$\sim \exp\left(-5.2213516788791457598\sqrt{\rho-z}\right) = e^{-t}.$$

For the average height, we need apart from the leading factor,

$$\sum_{h \ge 0} s[>h] \sim \sum_{h \ge 0} \frac{e^{-th}}{1 - e^{-th}}$$

Since we only compute the leading term of the asymptotics of the average height, we might start the sum at $h \ge 1$, and expand the geometric series:

$$\sum_{h \ge 1} s[>h] \sim \sum_{h,k \ge 1} e^{-thk} = \sum_{k \ge 1} d(k)e^{-kt} \sim -\frac{\log t}{t},$$

with d(k) being the number of divisors of k. This type of analysis, although having been done often before, has been described in much detail in [24]. Together with the factor in front, we are at

$$-18.854986275200314363\sqrt{\rho-z} \frac{\log\sqrt{\rho-z}}{5.2213516788791457598\sqrt{\rho-z}}$$

$$\sim -1.8055656307800996608\log(1-z/\rho).$$

Singularity analysis [16] gives the following estimate for the coefficient of z^n :

$$1.8055656307800996608 \frac{\rho^{-n}}{n}.$$

For the average height we need to normalize, that is, we divide by the total number of skew Motzkin numbers of size n given by (8.1):

$$\frac{1.8055656307800996608\frac{\rho^{-n}}{n}}{5.1256244361431546460\frac{1}{2\sqrt{\pi}}\rho^{-n}n^{-3/2}} = 0.70452513767814089508\sqrt{\pi n}.$$

9. Oscillations in Dyck paths revisited

This section in honour of Rainer Kemp was written for this personal survey.

Rainer Kemp's paper [25] was unfortunately largely overlooked. An extension was published quickly [28], and then it fell into oblivion. We want to come back to this gem, with modern methods, in particular, the kernel method and singularity analysis. Kemp was interested in peaks and valleys of Dyck paths, which he called MAX-turns and MIN-turns, probably motivated by computer science applications. The peaks/valleys are enumerated from left to right, and the height of the j-th one is analyzed. In the corresponding ordered (plane) tree, the peaks correspond to the leaves.

Very precise information is available for leaves of binary trees [22,27,33,34] but the situation is a bit different for Dyck paths since the number of peaks/valleys isn't directly related to the length of the Dyck path. (Narayana numbers enumerate them.) Kemp's results in a nutshell are: The average height of the *m*-th peak/valley is ~ $4\sqrt{2m/\pi}$ (it is asymptotically independent of the length *n* of the path), and the difference between the height of the peak and the next valley is about 2, with more terms being available in principle. A trivariate generating function for heights of valleys. The goal is to derive an expression for $\Phi(u) = \Phi(u; z, w)$, where z is used for the length of the path, w for the enumeration of the valleys (w^m corresponds to the m-th valley), and u is used to record the height of the m-th (and last) valley of a partial Dyck path (the path does not need to return to the x-axis). We could think about it continued in any possible fashion, as in the following figure. We will figure out the generating function of partial Dyck paths with m valleys, and the generating function of the 'rest', which (if it is not empty) is a partial Dyck path starting with an up-step and ends on the x-axis, where the number of valleys is immaterial. The enumeration of the rest is easy, when one thinks about it from right to left, since then it is just a Dyck path ending on a prescribed level j with a down-step. This can be obtained from the first part by setting w = 1, i.e., not counting the valleys.



FIGURE 10. The third valley at level j.

Our goal is, as often, to use the adding-a-new-slice technique, namely adding another 'mountain' (a maximal sequence of up-steps, followed by a maximal sequence of down-steps), or going from the *m*-th valley to the (m + 1)-st valley. We investigate what can happen to u^{j} :

$$\sum_{l \ge 1} \sum_{i=1}^{j+l} z^l u^{j+l} z^i u^{-i}.$$

Working this out, the following substitution is essential for our problem:

$$u^{j} \longrightarrow \frac{z^{2}u^{k}}{(u-z)(1-zu^{k})}u^{j} - \frac{z^{k+2}}{(u-z)(1-z^{k+1})}z^{j}.$$

Working this into a generating function of the type

$$\Phi(u) = \sum_{m \ge 0} w^m \varphi_m(u),$$

where the variable w keeps track of the number of mountains, we find from the substitution

$$\Phi(u) = 1 + \frac{wz^2u}{(u-z)(1-zu)}\Phi(u) - \frac{wz^3}{(u-z)(1-z^2)}\Phi(z),$$

where 1 stands for the empty path having no mountains. Rearranging,

$$\Phi(u)\frac{z(u-s_1)(u-s_2)}{(u-z)(zu-1)} = 1 - \frac{wz^3}{(u-z)(1-z^2)}\Phi(z)$$

and

$$\Phi(u) = \frac{(zu-1)}{z(u-s_1)(u-s_2)} \left[u - z - \frac{wz^3}{(1-z^2)} \Phi(z) \right].$$

Here,

$$s_2 = \frac{z^2 + 1 - wz^2 - \sqrt{z^4 - 2z^2 - 2z^4w + 1 - 2wz^2 + w^2z^4}}{2z} \quad \text{and} \quad s_1 = \frac{1}{s_2}.$$

In the spirit of the kernel method, the factor $u - s_2$ is 'bad' and must cancel out. That leads first to

$$\Phi(z) = \frac{(1-z^2)(s_2-z)}{wz^3}$$

and further to

$$\Phi(u) = \frac{(zu-1)}{z(u-s_1)} = \frac{s_2(1-zu)}{z(1-us_2)}$$

= 1 + wz² + wuz³ + (w² + w + wu²)z⁴ + (2w²u + wu + wu³)z⁵ +

From this it is easy to read off coefficients in general:

$$[u^{j}]\Phi(u) = [u^{j}]\frac{s_{2}(1-zu)}{z(1-us_{2})} = \frac{1}{z}s_{2}^{j+1} - s_{2}^{j}.$$

Note that setting w = 1 ignores the number of mountains, and the generating function would then be enumerating partial Dyck paths ending on level j with a down-step. The answer could then be derived by combinatorial means as well.

For Kemp's problem, we need

$$S = \sum_{j \ge 0} j \left(\frac{1}{z} s_2^{j+1} - s_2^j \right) \cdot \left(\frac{1}{z} s_2^{j+1} - s_2^j \right) \bigg|_{w=1}.$$

Recall that the two parts of the Dyck path, according to our decomposition, are glued together, which just means multiplication of generating functions. The factor j comes in because of the average value of the height of the valley, the first factor is what we just worked out, and the third factor is the rest, which, when read from right to left, is just what we discussed, since the number of valleys or mountains in the rest is irrelevant. Thanks to computer algebra (not available when Kemp worked on the oscillations), we get

$$S = 4 \frac{(-3z + W_1 z - W_1 + 1) (-W_2 + wzW_2 + 1 + z^2w^2 - wz^2 - 2wz - z)}{z (-3z - W_1 z + 1 - W_1 - wz + wzW_1 - W_2 + W_2W_1)^2}$$

with

$$W_1 = \sqrt{1 - 4z}$$
 and $W_2 = \sqrt{z^2 - 2z - 2z^2w + 1 - 2wz + w^2z^2}$.

Note carefully that z^2 was replaced by z, since Dyck paths (returning to the x-axis) must have an even number of steps. Their enumeration is classical:

$$D(z) = \frac{1 - \sqrt{1 - 4z}}{2z} \sim 2 - 2\sqrt{1 - 4z},$$

for z close to the (dominant) singularity $z = \frac{1}{4}$. We are in the regime of the subcritical case; see [20, Section IX-3].

The function S has a similar local expansion:

$$S \sim C_1(w) - C_2(w)\sqrt{1-4z},$$

and the function $\frac{C_2(w)}{2}$ is the resulting generating function. Working out the details,

$$S \sim \frac{w + \sqrt{(1-w)(9-w) - 3}}{-1+w}$$
$$-\sqrt{1-4z} \left(\frac{w^2 + 2w - 3 + (1+w)\sqrt{(1-w)(9-w)}}{(1-w)^2}\right) + \cdots$$

Eventually we are led to

$$\mathsf{Valley}(w) := \frac{w^2 + 2w - 3 + (1+w)\sqrt{(1-w)(9-w)}}{2(1-w)^2}$$

To say it again, the coefficient of w^m in this is the average value of the *m*-th valley in a 'very long' Dyck path. To say more about it, we can use singularity analysis again and expand (this time around w = 1, which is dominant):

$$\mathsf{Valley}(w) \sim \frac{2\sqrt{2}}{\left(1-w\right)^{3/2}} - \frac{2}{1-w} - \frac{7}{8} \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{1-w}}$$

The traditional translation theorems [16, 20] lead to the average value of the height of the m-th valley:

$$4\sqrt{2}\sqrt{\frac{m}{\pi}} - 2 + \frac{5\sqrt{2}}{8\sqrt{\pi m}} + \cdots$$

From valleys to peaks. We do not need too many new computations, as we can modify the previous results. If one adds an arbitrary non-empty number of up-steps after the m-th valley, one has reached the (m + 1)-st peak! This is basically a substitution!



FIGURE 11. The third peak at level j.

Start from

$$\Phi(u) = \frac{s_2(1 - zu)}{z(1 - us_2)}$$

and attach a sequence of up-steps: $u^j \to \frac{zu}{1-zu}u^j$. A factor w is also important, since the *m*-th valley corresponds to the (m + 1)-st peak. Now

$$\frac{zuw}{1-zu}\frac{s_2(1-zu)}{z(1-us_2)} = \frac{us_2w}{1-us_2} = w\sum_{j\ge 1} u^j s_2^j.$$

The computation

$$w \sum_{j \ge 0} j s_2^j \cdot s_2^j \Big|_{w=1}$$

was basically done before, and the local expansion leads to

$$\frac{2w}{1-w} - \frac{2w\sqrt{(1-w)(9-w)}}{(1-w)^2}\sqrt{1-4z},$$

and the generating function of the average values of the m-th peak is

$$\mathsf{Peak}(w) = \frac{w\sqrt{(1-w)(9-w)}}{(1-w)^2}$$

A local expansion of this results in

$$\mathsf{Peak}(w) \sim \frac{2\sqrt{2}}{(1-w)^{3/2}} - \frac{15}{8} \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{1-w}}$$

Taking differences:

$$\mathsf{Peak}(w) - \mathsf{Valley}(w) \sim \frac{2}{1-w} - \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{1-w}}$$

and translating into asymptotics:

$$2 - \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{\pi m}}.$$

The formula $2 + O(m^{-1/2})$ was already known to Kemp [25]. As Kemp stated in [25], which was confirmed in [28], the generating functions $\mathsf{Peak}(w)$ and $\mathsf{Valley}(w)$ can be expressed by Legendre polynomials at special values. This is a bit artificial and not too useful in itself.

10. Deutsch-paths in a strip

Emeric Deutsch [11] had the idea to consider a variation of ordinary Dyck paths, by augmenting the usual up-steps and down-steps by one unit each, by down-steps of size $3, 5, 7, \ldots$; the set of down-steps is $\{(1, -1), (1, -3), (1, -5), \ldots\}$. This leads to ternary equations, as can be seen for instance in [41].

The present author started to investigate a related but simpler model of down-steps $1, 2, 3, 4, \ldots$ and investigated it (named Deutsch paths in honour of Emeric Deutsch) in a series of papers [39, 40, 42]. This simpler model can also be seen in the context of Lukasiewicz paths, except that horizontal steps are not allowed; see [5]. Another relevant paper that deals with infinite step sets is [3].

This section is a further member of this series (and extends our unpublished preprint arXiv:2108.12797): The condition that (as with Dyck paths) the paths cannot enter negative territory is relaxed by introducing a negative boundary -t. Here are two recent publications about such a negative boundary: [51] and [49].

Instead of allowing negative altitudes, we think about the whole system shifted up by t units, and start at the point (0, t) instead. This is much better for the generating functions that we are going to investigate. Eventually, the results can be re-interpreted as results about enumerations with respect to a negative boundary.

The setting with flexible initial level t and final level j allows us to consider the Deutsch paths also from right to left (they are not symmetric!), without any new computations.

The next sections achieves this, using the celebrated kernel method. An additional upper bound is introduced, so that the Deutsch paths live now in a strip. The way to attack this is linear algebra. Once everything has been computed, one can relax the conditions and let lower/upper boundary go to $\mp \infty$.

Generating functions and the kernel method. As discussed, we consider Deutsch paths starting at (0,t) and ending at (n,j), for $n,t,j \ge 0$. First we consider univariate generating functions $f_j(z)$, where z^n stays for n steps done, and j is the final destination. The recursion is immediate:

$$f_j(z) = [t = j] + z f_{j-1}(z) + z \sum_{k>j} f_k(z),$$

where $f_{-1}(z) = 0$. Next, we consider $F(z, u) := \sum_{j \ge 0} f_j(z) u^j$, and get

$$\begin{split} F(z,u) &= u^t + z u F(z,u) + z \sum_{j \ge 0} u^j \sum_{k>j} f_k(z) = u^t + z u F(z,u) + z \sum_{k>0} f_k(z) \sum_{0 \le j < k} u^j \\ &= u^t + z u F(z,u) + z \sum_{k\ge 0} f_k(z) \frac{1-u^k}{1-u} = u^t + z u F(z,u) + \frac{z}{1-u} [F(z,1) - F(z,u)] \\ &= \frac{u^t (1-u) + z F(z,1)}{z - z u + z u^2 + 1 - u}. \end{split}$$

Since the critical value is around u = 1, we write the denominator as

$$z(u-1)^{2} + (u-1)(z-1) + z = z(u-1-r_{1})(u-1-r_{2}),$$

with

$$r_1 = \frac{1 - z + \sqrt{1 - 2z - 3z^2}}{2z}, \quad r_2 = \frac{1 - z - \sqrt{1 - 2z - 3z^2}}{2z}$$

The factor $(u-1-r_2)$ is bad, so the numerator must vanish for $[u^t(1-u)+zF(z,1)]|_{u=1+r_2}$, therefore $zF(z,1) = (1+r_2)^t r_2$. Furthermore

$$F(z,u) = \frac{\frac{u^t(1-u) + zF(z,1)}{u-r_2}}{z(u-r_1)}$$

The expressions become prettier using the substitution $z = \frac{v}{1+v+v^2}$; then $r_1 = \frac{1}{v}$, $r_2 = v$. It can be proved by induction (or computer algebra) that

$$\frac{u^t(1-u) + v(1+v)^t}{u-1-v} = -v\sum_{k=0}^{t-1} (1+v)^{t-1-k} - u^t.$$

Furthermore

$$\frac{1}{z(u-1-r_1)} = -\frac{1}{z(1+r_1)(1-\frac{u}{1+r_1})},$$

and so

$$f_j(z) = [u^j]F(z,u) = [u^j] \left[v \sum_{k=0}^{t-1} (1+v)^{t-1-k} u^k + u^t \right] \sum_{\ell \ge 0} \frac{u^\ell}{z(1+r_1)^{\ell+1}}.$$

Les us mention two interesting special cases: the case t = 0 (which was also studied before [39])

$$f_j = \frac{(1+v+v^2)v^j}{(1+v)^{j+1}},$$

and the case j = 0 for general t, as it may be interpreted as Deutsch paths read from right to left, starting at level 0 and ending at level $t \ge 1$ (for t = 0, the previous formula applies). It gives

$$f_0(z) = [u^0] \left[v \sum_{k=0}^{t-1} (1+v)^{t-1-k} u^k + u^t \right] \sum_{\ell \ge 0} \frac{u^\ell}{z(1+r_1)^{\ell+1}}$$
$$= v(1+v)^{t-1} \frac{1}{z(1+r_1)} = v(1+v+v^2)(1+v)^{t-2}.$$

The next section will present a simplification of the expression for $f_j(z)$, which could be obtained directly by distinguishing cases and summing some geometric series.

Refined analysis: lower and upper boundary. Now we consider Deutsch paths bounded from below by zero and bounded from above by m-1; they start at level t and end at level j after n steps. For that, we use generating functions $\varphi_j(z)$ (the quantity t is a silent parameter here). The recursions that are straight-forwarded are best organized in a matrix, as the following example shows.

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & -z \\ -z & 1 & -z & -z & -z & -z & -z & -z \\ 0 & -z & 1 & -z & -z & -z & -z & -z \\ 0 & 0 & -z & 1 & -z & -z & -z & -z \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -z & 1 & -z & -z & -z \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -z & 1 & -z & -z \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -z & 1 & -z \\ \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \varphi_0 \\ \varphi_1 \\ \varphi_2 \\ \varphi_3 \\ \varphi_4 \\ \varphi_5 \\ \varphi_6 \\ \varphi_7 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

The goal is now to solve this system. For that the substitution $z = \frac{v}{1+v+v^2}$ is used throughout. The method is to use Cramer's rule, which means that the right-hand side has to replace various columns of the matrix, and determinants have to be computed. At the end, one has to divide by the determinant of the system.

Let D_m be the determinant of the matrix with m rows and columns. The recursion

$$(1+v+v^2)^2 m_{n+2} - (1+v+v^2)(1+v)^2 D_{m+1} + v(1+v)^2 D_m = 0$$

appeared already in [39] and is not difficult to derive and to solve:

$$D_m = \frac{(1+v)^{m-1}}{(1+v+v^2)^m} \frac{1-v^{m+2}}{1-v}.$$

To solve the system with Cramer's rule, we must compute a determinant of shape



where the various rows are replaced by the right-hand side. While it is not impossible to solve this recursion by hand, it is very easy to make mistakes, so it is best to employ a computer. Let D(m; t, j) the determinant according to the drawing.

It is not unexpected that the results are different for j < t resp. $j \ge t$. Here is what we found:

$$D(m;t,j) = \frac{(1+v)^{t-j-3+m}(1-v^{j+1})v(1-v^{m-t})}{(1-v)^2(1+v+v^2)^{m-1}}, \quad \text{for } j < t,$$

$$D(m;t,j) = \frac{v^{j-t}(1-v^{t+2})(1-v^{1-j+m})}{(1-v)^2(1+v+v^2)^{m-1}(1+v)^{j-t+3-m}}, \quad \text{for } j \ge t.$$

To solve the system, we have to divide by the determinant D_m , with the result

$$\varphi_j = \frac{D(m;t,j)}{D_m} = \frac{(1+v)^{t-j-2}(1-v^{j+1})v(1-v^{m-t})(1+v+v^2)}{(1-v)(1-v^{m+2})}, \quad \text{for } j < t,$$
$$\varphi_j = \frac{D(m;t,j)}{D_m} = \frac{v^{j-t}(1-v^{t+2})(1-v^{1-j+m})(1+v+v^2)}{(1-v)(1+v)^{j-t+2}(1-v^{m+2})}, \quad \text{for } j \ge t.$$

We found all this using computer algebra. Some critical minds may argue that this is only experimental. One way of rectifying this would be to show that indeed the functions φ_j solve the system, which consists of summing various geometric series; again, a computer could be helpful for such an enterprise.

Of interest are also the limits for $m \to \infty$, i.e., no upper boundary:

$$\varphi_j = \lim_{m \to \infty} \frac{D(m; t, j)}{D_m} = \frac{(1+v)^{t-j-2}(1-v^{j+1})v(1+v+v^2)}{(1-v)}, \quad \text{for } j < t,$$
$$\varphi_j = \frac{v^{j-t}(1-v^{t+2})(1+v+v^2)}{(1-v)(1+v)^{j-t+2}}, \quad \text{for } j \ge t.$$

The special case t = 0 appeared already in the previous section:

$$\varphi_j = \frac{v^j (1 + v + v^2)}{(1 + v)^{j+1}}$$

Likewise, for $t \ge 1$,

$$\varphi_0 = v(1+v+v^2)(1+v)^{t-2}$$

In particular, the formulæ show that the expression from the previous section can be simplified in general, which could have been seen directly, of course. **Theorem 10.1.** The generating function of Deutsch path with lower boundary 0 and upper boundary m - 1, starting at (0, t) and ending at (n, j) is given by

$$\frac{(1+v)^{t-j-2}(1-v^{j+1})v(1-v^{m-t})(1+v+v^2)}{(1-v)(1-v^{m+2})}, \quad \text{for } j < t,$$
$$\frac{v^{j-t}(1-v^{t+2})(1-v^{1-j+m})(1+v+v^2)}{(1-v)(1+v)^{j-t+2}(1-v^{m+2})}, \quad \text{for } j \ge t,$$

with the substitution $z = \frac{v}{1 + v + v^2}$.

By shifting everything down, we can interpret the results as Deutsch walks between boundaries -t and m-1-t, starting at the origin (0,0) and ending at (n, j-t).

Theorem 10.2. The generating function of Deutsch path with lower boundary -t and upper boundary h, starting at (0,0) and ending at (n,i) with $-t \le i \le h$ is given by

$$\frac{(1+v)^{i-2}(1-v^{i+t+1})v(1-v^{h+1})(1+v+v^2)}{(1-v)(1-v^{h+t+3})}, \quad \text{for } i < 0,$$
$$\frac{v^i(1-v^{t+2})(1-v^{2-i+h})(1+v+v^2)}{(1-v)(1+v)^{i+2}(1-v^{h+t+3})}, \quad \text{for } i \ge 0.$$

It is possible to consider the limits $t \to \infty$ and/or $h \to \infty$ resulting in simplified formulæ.

Theorem 10.3. The generating function of Deutsch path with lower boundary -t and upper boundary ∞ , starting at (0,0) and ending at (n,i) with $-t \leq i$ is given by

$$\frac{(1+v)^{i-2}(1-v^{i+t+1})v(1+v+v^2)}{(1-v)}, \quad \text{for } i < 0,$$
$$\frac{v^i(1-v^{t+2})(1+v+v^2)}{(1-v)(1+v)^{i+2}}, \quad \text{for } i \ge 0.$$

Theorem 10.4. The generating function of Deutsch path with lower boundary $-\infty$ and upper boundary h, starting at (0,0) and ending at (n,i) with $\leq i \leq h$ is given by

$$\frac{(1+v)^{i-2}v(1-v^{h+1})(1+v+v^2)}{(1-v)}, \text{ for } i < 0, \quad \frac{v^i(1-v^{2-i+h})(1+v+v^2)}{(1-v)(1+v)^{i+2}}, \text{ for } i \ge 0.$$

Theorem 10.5. The generating function of unbounded Deutsch path starting at (0,0) and ending at (n,i) is given by

$$\frac{(1+v)^{i-2}v(1+v+v^2)}{(1-v)}, \text{ for } i < 0, \quad \frac{v^i(1+v+v^2)}{(1-v)(1+v)^{i+2}}, \text{ for } i \ge 0.$$

11. CONCLUSION

After this personal survey was completed (it will never be complete!) a few more papers about skew Dyck path papers were written; see, e.g., Baril, Kirgizov, Maréchal, Vajnovszki [4] and [47].

References

- Andrei Asinowski, Benjamin Hackl, and Sarah J. Selkirk. Down-step statistics in generalized Dyck paths. Discrete Math. Theor. Comput. Sci., 24(1):Paper No. 17, 40, 2022.
- [2] Alexandru T. Balaban, Roy O. Davies, Frank Harary, Anthony Hill, and Roy Westwick. Cubic identity graphs and planar graphs derived from trees. J. Austral. Math. Soc., 11:207–215, 1970.
- [3] Cyril Banderier. Limit laws for basic parameters of lattice paths with unbounded jumps. In Mathematics and Computer Science II (Versailles, 2002), pages 33–47. Birkhäuser, 2002.
- [4] Jean-Luc Baril, Sergey Kirgizov, Rémi Maréchal, and Vincent Vajnovszki. Enumeration of Dyck paths with air pockets. J. Integer Seq., 26:Article 23.3, 2023.
- [5] Jean-Luc Baril and Helmut Prodinger. Enumeration of partial Łukasiewicz paths. Enumer. Comb. Appl., 3(1):Paper No. S2R2, 13, 2023.
- [6] Jean-Luc Baril, José L. Ramírez, and Lina M. Simbaqueba. Counting prefixes of skew Dyck paths. J. Integer Seq., 24(8):Art. 21.8.2, 15, 2021.
- [7] Louis Comtet. Advanced Combinatorics. D. Reidel Publishing Co., enlarged edition, 1974.
- [8] Julien Courtiel, Andrew Elvey Price, and Irène Marcovici. Bijections between walks inside a triangular domain and Motzkin paths of bounded amplitude. *Electron. J. Combin.*, 28(2):Paper No. 2.6, 2021.
- [9] Nicolaas G. de Bruijn, Donald E. Knuth, and Stephen O. Rice. The average height of planted plane trees. In R. C. Read, editor, *Graph Theory and Computing*, pages 15–22. Academic Press, 1972.
- [10] Eva Y. P. Deng and Toufik Mansour. Three Hoppy path problems and ternary paths. Discrete Appl. Math., 156(5):770–779, 2008.
- [11] Emeric Deutsch. Problem 10751. Amer. Math. Monthly, 106(7):686, 1999. Solution in AMM vol. 108(9):872, 2001.
- [12] Emeric Deutsch, Emanuele Munarini, and Simone Rinaldi. Skew Dyck paths. J. Statist. Plann. Inference, 140(8):2191–2203, 2010.
- [13] Emeric Deutsch and Louis W. Shapiro. A bijection between ordered trees and 2-Motzkin paths and its many consequences. *Discrete Math.*, 256(3):655–670, 2002. LaCIM 2000 Conference on Combinatorics, Computer Science and Applications (Montreal, QC).
- [14] Maciej Dziemiańczuk. Counting lattice paths with four types of steps. Graphs Combin., 30(6):1427– 1452, 2014.
- [15] Shalosh B. Ekhad and Doron Zeilberger. Automatic counting of restricted Dyck paths via (numeric and symbolic) dynamic programming. arXiv, 2020.
- [16] Philippe Flajolet and Andrew Odlyzko. Singularity analysis of generating functions. SIAM J. Discrete Math., 3(2):216–240, 1990.
- [17] Philippe Flajolet and Helmut Prodinger. Register allocation for unary-binary trees. SIAM J. Comput., 15(3):629–640, 1986.
- [18] Philippe Flajolet and Helmut Prodinger. Level number sequences for trees. Discrete Math., 65(2):149– 156, 1987.
- [19] Philippe Flajolet, Jean-Claude Raoult, and Jean Vuillemin. The number of registers required for evaluating arithmetic expressions. *Theoret. Comput. Sci.*, 9(1):99–125, 1979.
- [20] Philippe Flajolet and Robert Sedgewick. Analytic Combinatorics. Cambridge University Press, 2009.
- [21] Ronald L. Graham, Donald E. Knuth, and Oren Patashnik. Concrete Mathematics. Addison-Wesley, second edition, 1994.
- [22] Walter Gutjahr and Georg C. Pflug. The asymptotic distribution of leaf heights in binary trees. Graphs Combin., 8(3):243–251, 1992.
- [23] Frank Harary and Ronald C. Read. The enumeration of tree-like polyhexes. Proc. Edinburgh Math. Soc. (2), 17:1–13, 1970.
- [24] Clemens Heuberger, Helmut Prodinger, and Stephan Wagner. The height of multiple edge plane trees. Aequationes Math., 90(3):625–645, 2016.
- [25] Rainer Kemp. On the average oscillation of a stack. Combinatorica, 2(2):157–176, 1982.
- [26] Hana Kim and Richard P. Stanley. A refined enumeration of hex trees and related polynomials. European J. Combin., 54:207–219, 2016.

- [27] Peter Kirschenhofer. On the height of leaves in binary trees. J. Combin. Inform. System Sci., 8(1):44-60, 1983.
- [28] Peter Kirschenhofer and Helmut Prodinger. On the average hyperoscillations of planted plane trees. Combinatorica, 2(2):177–186, 1982.
- [29] Christian Krattenthaler. Lattice path enumeration. In Handbook of Enumerative Combinatorics, Discrete Math. Appl., pages 589–678. CRC Press, 2015.
- [30] Qing Lin Lu. Skew Motzkin paths. Acta Math. Sin. (Engl. Ser.), 33(5):657–667, 2017.
- [31] Sri Gopal Mohanty. Lattice Path Counting and Applications. Academic Press [Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, Publishers], 1979.
- [32] Tadepalli V. Narayana. Lattice Path Combinatorics with Statistical Applications. Mathematical Expositions, No. 23. University of Toronto Press, 1979.
- [33] Alois Panholzer and Helmut Prodinger. Descendants and ascendants in binary trees. Discrete Math. Theor. Comput. Sci., 1(1):247–266, 1997.
- [34] Alois Panholzer and Helmut Prodinger. Moments of level numbers of leaves in binary trees. J. Statist. Plann. Inference, 101(1-2):267–279, 2002. Special issue dedicated to the conference Lattice Path Combinatorics and Applications (Vienna, 1998).
- [35] Helmut Prodinger. The average height of a stack where three operations are allowed and some related problems. J. Combin. Inform. System Sci., 5(4):287–304, 1980.
- [36] Helmut Prodinger. Some analytic techniques for the investigation of the asymptotic behaviour of tree parameters. *EATCS Bulletin*, pages 180–199, 1992.
- [37] Helmut Prodinger. The kernel method: a collection of examples. Sém. Lothar. Combin., 50:Art. B50f, 19, 2003/04.
- [38] Helmut Prodinger. Analytic methods. In Handbook of Enumerative Combinatorics, Discrete Math. Appl., pages 173–252. CRC Press, 2015.
- [39] Helmut Prodinger. Deutsch paths and their enumeration. Open J. Discrete Appl. Math., 4(1):12–18, 2021.
- [40] Helmut Prodinger. Enumeration of Deutsch paths by the adding-a-new-slice method and applications. Matimyás Mat., 44(1):15–22, 2021.
- [41] Helmut Prodinger. Generating functions for a lattice path model introduced by Deutsch. Spec. Matrices, 9:217–225, 2021.
- [42] Helmut Prodinger. Nondecreasing Deutsch paths. Fibonacci Quart., 59(3):232–236, 2021.
- [43] Helmut Prodinger. Retakh's Motzkin paths and some combinatorial comments. Enumer. Comb. Appl., 1(1):Paper No. S2R4, 5, 2021.
- [44] Helmut Prodinger. Weighted unary-binary trees, hex-trees, marked ordered trees, and related structures. arXiv, 2021.
- [45] Helmut Prodinger. The amplitude of Motzkin paths. Notes Number Theory Discrete Math., 28:41–47, 2022.
- [46] Helmut Prodinger. Counting ternary trees according to the number of middle edges and factorizing into (3/2)-ary trees. Asian-Eur. J. Math., 15(11):Paper No. 2250187, 5, 2022.
- [47] Helmut Prodinger. Partial Dyck paths with air pockets. Integers, 22:Paper No. A94, 8, 2022.
- [48] Helmut Prodinger. Philippe Flajolet's early work in combinatorics. Enumer. Comb. Appl., 2(1):Paper No. S1H1, 11, 2022.
- [49] Helmut Prodinger. On k-Dyck paths with a negative boundary. J. Comb. Math. Comb. Comput., 2023. To appear.
- [50] Helmut Prodinger. Introduction to Philippe Flajolet's work on the register function and related topics, Chapter introduction, *Collected Works of Philippe Flajolet*, to appear.
- [51] Sarah J. Selkirk. On a generalisation of k-Dyck paths. Master's thesis, Stellenbosch University, 2019.
- [52] Neil J. A. Sloane and The OEIS Foundation Inc. The On-Line Encyclopedia of Integer Sequences, 2023.

 Λ Article dedicated to Neil Peart (1952–2020) Λ